

Educational Accountability with a Human Face

Professional and Developmental Services

Canadian Teachers' Federation

Ottawa

Educational	Accountability	with a	Human	Face
--------------------	----------------	--------	-------	------

CTF Professional and Developmental Services

Bernie Froese-Germain Research & Writing

Sandra Lane-De Baie Secretary / Page Layout

> Noreen O'Haire Program Director

Canadian Teachers' Federation 2490 Don Reid Drive Ottawa, ON K1H 1E1

Tel: (613) 232-1505 Toll free: 1-866-283-1505 E-mail: bfroe@ctf-fce.ca Website: www.ctf-fce.ca

Cover design by Karen Steel, B.C. Teachers' Federation Graphics Department.

ISBN 0-88989-345-4

Copyright © 2004 by the Canadian Teachers' Federation. All rights reserved.

Educational	Accountability	with a	Human	Face
--------------------	----------------	--------	-------	------

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
The accountability movement in context	
The "No Child Left Behind" Act: Accountability, American-style	5
Diverse approaches to accountability	
Cult of testing vs. culture of genuine accountability	9
Standardized testing ≠ accountability (or, what accountability is <i>not</i>)	11
Making classroom assessment a priority	17
Public education, equity and democracy	23
What works – in classrooms, schools and beyond	27
Accountable governance	29
Shared responsibility	31
Focusing on professional accountability	37
Professional autonomy	37
Teacher quality and professional development	38
On being accountable to oneself	44
On the joy of teaching	45
CTF Vision for Public Education	46
Barriers to teacher professionalism	49
Teachers support greater accountability unless	54
Advancing educational accountability	57
Bibliography and Further Reading	61
Endnotes	71

Educational	Accountability	with a	Human	Face
--------------------	----------------	--------	-------	------

Introduction

...the form of schooling espoused under the banner of standards demonstrates the same deterministic thinking that governs the production of fast food Commitment to standards-led school reform means creating a system of schools geared solely to the product – test results – and not to the process of creating educative experiences. (Holt, 2002, p. 268)

Talk of accountability (or the lack thereof) dominates current Canadian education debates. We're not alone in this regard. Mawhinney (1998) observes that "the educational reform agenda in many industrialized nations today is driven by a perceived crisis in accountability" (p. 98). Unfortunately, as Earl (2001) also reminds us, "accountability is rarely clearly defined. It is an emotionally charged concept that everyone agrees is good, with little agreement about how it works or what it looks like." (p. 27)

Teachers support accountability when it is fair and equitable for all students, and when it supports teaching and learning.

This publication is an attempt to shed some light on the concept from a teacher organization perspective.

The Canadian Teachers' Federation has identified accountability in education as a priority issue. As part of a continuing effort to address issues related to standardized testing, school rankings, teacher testing, and narrow performance indicators, this report on educational accountability has several objectives:

- To emphasize that public accountability is a fundamental principle underlying public education.
- To demonstrate that the teaching profession is clearly not opposed to accountability but rather, to 'accountability' as it is narrowly construed in terms of test scores, 'league tables' ranking schools and accountability systems based on rewards and sanctions. Teachers' organizations believe it is time to recast the concept of accountability. According to Kohn (2000),

endorsing the idea of accountability is quite different from holding students and teachers accountable specifically for raising test scores. We need to help people see that the first doesn't entail the second – and, indeed, that genuine accountability and authentic standards are *undermined* by a myopic emphasis on testing. (p. 46)

Teachers support accountability when it is fair and equitable for all students, and when it supports teaching and learning.

 To examine educational accountability and its relationship to equity and other issues in order to contextualize and enrich our understanding of accountability as teacher organizations.

• To contribute to a constructive counter-discourse on the subject of educational accountability by outlining elements of a comprehensive accountability framework. This framework highlights shared responsibility and professional accountability as an alternative to market-based and bureaucratic accountability models.

The accountability movement in context

Globalization and market-based education reform

Among the major changes we are witnessing in educational policy are the so-called 'accountability revolution', school choice and competition among schools, trends that are closely linked. Such changes in education need to be understood in the context of corporate-driven globalization, which Michel Agnaïeff¹ has described as the "second capitalistic revolution". Globalization according to Agnaïeff has accelerated the "penetration of market values into areas where they do not belong".² This has resulted in the treatment of education as a commodity and the portrayal of public education as a failure in order to advance an agenda of deregulation and privatization. Paradoxically, while education is universally hailed as the key to success in the knowledge-based economy, public education does not appear to be held in the same high regard and indeed, is being neglected at best and undermined at worst.

"McWorld does not prosper when people think **for** themselves and **about** others - both key outcomes of what I would consider an education worthy of the name."

Borrowing the term "McWorld" from political theorist Benjamin Barber to describe a world being radically transformed by corporate globalization, Robertson (Dec. 2002) asserts that, "McWorld does not prosper when people think *for* themselves and *about* others – both key outcomes of what I would consider an education worthy of the name." Sustaining and strengthening public education against the forces of globalization is perhaps the greatest challenge currently facing the education community.

Demands for increased accountability, especially shrill in the U.S. and the U.K. and resulting in particularly draconian measures, have been used by decision-makers to justify the development of narrow measurable outcomes of student achievement. This has been accompanied by large-scale standardized testing to verify those outcomes and the subsequent ranking and publishing of average test scores for schools and districts. This market-based approach to accountability, emphasizing competition, is designed to create (a few) winners and (many more) losers, resulting in increased inequities.

In her 2001 Massey Lectures, entitled *The Cult of Efficiency*, Janice Gross Stein examines "how the discussion of efficiency in the delivery of public goods, such as education and health care, has risen to prominence in post-industrial society." She rightly argues that

efficiency is not an end, but a means to achieve valued ends When it is used as an end in itself, as a value in its own right, and as the overriding goal of public life, it becomes a cult when the public discussion of efficiency focuses only on costs, the cult becomes even stronger. (p. 6)

That efficiency has become such a dominant factor in how public goods and services are delivered comes as no surprise. Efficiency, competition and privatization are defining features of a free market system, the mould of which is being applied to many public institutions including the education system. As teachers' organizations have consistently stressed, the market model of education, premised as it is on these principles and the bottom-line imperative of generating profits, is inappropriate for the education of children. Eisner (2003) says that,

School reform is being driven by a competitive model in which student scores constitute the data to be rank-ordered. That competition should be seen as motivating is, of course, entirely consistent with the values of a capitalist economy. The tacit belief is that, if competition is good for business, it's good for schools because schools, when you get down to it, are businesses, and the business of schools is producing measurable student performance. (p. 654)

As teachers' organizations have consistently stressed, the market model of education is inappropriate for the education of children.

If the business of schools is producing measurable student and other outcomes, then the methods of choice are 'performance indicators' and 'audit testing', methods that derive from corporate accounting and auditing practices. In his analysis of what he describes as the "ideology and technology of control systems being imposed on public services in general and education in particular", Kuehn (2004) contrasts the performance indicator system, which is "defined externally to the participants in the education system", with a locally-determined "democratic dialogue approach where a school community defines goals" (pp. 57-59). The former is a top-down "technocratic process whose shape is driven by the need to produce numbers" – in the case of education, standardized tests are increasingly used to churn out those numbers.

An outspoken critic of high-stakes testing and its negative impact on education, Alfie Kohn (2002) states bluntly that:

Anyone whose goal was to serve up our schools to the marketplace could hardly find a shrewder strategy than to insist on holding schools "accountable" by administering wave after wave of standardized tests. (p. 116)

Some have referred to this as the "label, blame, shame and abandon" approach to accountability. Commenting on the Fraser Institute ranking³ of nearly 3,000 Ontario elementary schools on the basis of Education Quality and Accountability Office (EQAO) test results, released to considerable media fanfare in June 2003, Kohn remarked that:

If my goal were to privatize Canadian education, my first move would be to promote standardized tests that I knew would make many public schools look bad, then release rankings to drive home the point, and finally profess to be shocked at how poor many schools were, thereby paving the way for vouchers or other private alternatives (Adam, 2003).

Private schools invariably rank at the top in these pseudo-scientific exercises. In addition to their conceptual and empirical shortcomings⁴, accountability policies and practices such as ranking schools on the basis of test scores ignore family socioeconomic status and other factors outside the control of schools.

The "No Child Left Behind" Act: Accountability, American-style

Test-based accountability is well suited to an education system being shaped by market principles and increasingly motivated by concerns about global

economic competitiveness. Standardized testing encourages competition because it efficiently sorts winners from losers. In his analysis of the Bush administration's sweeping education reform bill, the "No Child Left Behind" Act (NCLB)⁵, Karp (2002) discusses the intersection of high-stakes accountability with privatization and school competition (NCLB contains a number of pro-privatization proposals). He states that the NCLB legislation institutes

at the national level policies that have already wreaked havoc at the state level: punitive high stakes testing, the use of bureaucratic monitoring as the engine of school reform, and "accountability" schemes that set up schools to fail and then use that failure to justify disinvestment and privatization. (p. 3)

Schools which fail to reach their "adequate yearly progress" goals are subject to various sanctions, including outside intervention by consultants, staff replacement, and state takeover, as well as the imposition of school choice or charter school plans, or the complete transferral of school management to private contractors (Karp, 2002). Describing the flawed NCLB as "public education's trojan horse", Rose says that "NCLB is widely regarded in the education community as a scheme to replace the public schools with a system fueled by vouchers and focusing on private entrepreneurs." (p. 2)

Writing in the *New York Times*, Winerip (2003) remarked on the thankless work faced by federal U.S. Department of Education officials in defending and promoting NCLB, a law receiving widespread criticism across the country:

Under NCLB, schools which fail to reach their "adequate yearly progress" goals are subject to various sanctions, including outside intervention by consultants, staff replacement, and state takeover, as well as the imposition of school choice or charter school plans, or the complete transferral of school management to private contractors.

How do you defend a law that is likely to result in 85 percent of public schools in America being labeled failing – based on a single test score? And how do you defend a law demanding that schools have 100 percent of their children reaching proficiency on state tests in the next decade, and then provides a fraction of the resources state educators say is necessary to help the poor, the foreign born, the handicapped meet those standards?

Not an easy sell. In addition, with large numbers of schools predicted to end up on lists of "low-performing" or "failing schools", the result will be a shortage of "good schools" for students to transfer to, school choice being an important aspect of NCLB. There are already indications that this is occurring.

Accountability has become a highly profitable aspect of the burgeoning education industry. It is no coincidence that the biggest players in the testing business are also among the largest publishers of textbooks and test preparation materials.

Despite its profound implications for K-12 education, the majority of Americans know very little about NCLB, according to a recent Phi Delta Kappa/Gallup poll which focused on the legislation. And the more they find out, the less likely they are to support it. Rose and Gallup (2003) conclude that "responses to questions related to strategies associated with NCLB suggest that greater familiarity with the law is unlikely to lead to greater public support." Some specific examples are illustrative (see Rose & Gallup, pp. 42-43):

- 66% of poll respondents believe a single test cannot provide a fair picture of whether a school is in need of improvement. (NCLB bases this judgment on a state test administered annually in grades 3 through 8.)
- Only 15% of respondents believe testing on English and math alone can produce a
 fair picture of whether or not a school is in need of improvement, while 83% believe
 it cannot. (Under NCLB, whether a school is in need of improvement is
 determined solely by the percentage of students whose test scores meet the goal in
 English and math.)
- 80% of respondents are concerned either a great deal or a fair amount that relying only on testing in English and math to judge a school will mean less emphasis on art, music, history, and other subjects. (NCLB relies only on English and math scores to judge a school.)
- 66% believe the emphasis of NCLB on standardized testing will encourage teachers to teach to the tests, and 60% believe this would be a bad thing. (NCLB mandates testing in grades 3 through 8 and in at least one high school grade.)

Accountability has become a highly profitable aspect of the burgeoning education industry. It is no coincidence that the biggest players in the testing business are also among the largest publishers of textbooks and test preparation materials.

Testing companies and other education businesses are beginning to reap huge profits as a result of NCLB. Kronholz (2003) notes that, "already, states are reporting that thousands of schools aren't meeting minimum learning goals and now face an array of sanctions. Companies that sell to the schools – from test publishers to tutoring services to teacher-training outfits – say business is booming as troubled districts turn to them for help." In anticipation of the passing of NCLB, test publisher ETS (Educational Testing Service) made a shrewd business decision to add a new elementary/secondary education division to its enterprise to tap into a major emerging market for testing, with expected revenues of \$75 million in the coming year alone.

Diverse approaches to accountability

Leithwood, Jantzi and Mascall (2002)⁶ describe several different approaches to accountability currently in vogue, noting that each is "premised on quite different assumptions about what is wrong with schools and how to fix them", and that "most large-scale reform strategies include elements of all these approaches to accountability" (p. 9). In addition to market-based approaches which "assume that schools are monopolistic bureaucracies likely to improve when forced to compete for their clients" through, for example, privatization, vouchers including tuition tax credit / tax deduction schemes, school choice (e.g., charter schools and open boundaries) and league tables, they identify the following:

- decentralization approaches these "assume that schools are too distant from those
 they serve and will improve when their clients are given a greater voice in decision
 making" (e.g., school councils, site-based management, school and district profiles).
- professionalization approaches these "assume that typical professional practices in schools do not reflect the best available knowledge and will improve when held to higher standards"; this would include the standards movement as applied to the practices and performance of educators, and the use of prescriptive standards and testing in teacher selection, preparation and appraisal.
- management / bureaucratic approaches these "assume that schools are not sufficiently rational and will improve when they become clearer about their goals and more systematic about the strategies used to pursue them"; this includes input controls such as teacher tests, licensure, selection processes; process controls such as curriculum guides, planning and monitoring processes; and output controls such as student content and performance standards, standardized testing.

'Eclectic' or mixed approaches combine decreased central control (through a mix of school-based management, school improvement planning, quasi-markets in education) with increased central control over education (through rigid curriculum frameworks, province-wide/statewide testing with targets, inspection). However, when major decisions regarding funding, curriculum and assessment have already been made at the

top level, schools and parent councils are left between a rock and a hard place – with little power but much responsibility.

Policies flowing from these different approaches – such as high-stakes standardized testing and the ranking of schools based on test results – haven't worked because, according to Leithwood (2001),

- Some are unethical in the sense that people cannot be held accountable for things over which they have no or only partial control. (The BCTF (2002) for example notes that "teachers cannot be held accountable for the diversity of the students who walk through the doors of their classrooms, district decisions about programs, the quality of the provincially prescribed curriculum, the adequacy of provincial funding, or the number of students in portables.")
- Some don't accomplish the purposes intended by policy-makers for example, among the unintended consequences of school choice policies are increased inequities in education.
- The BCTF frames accountability broadly in terms of the education system's responsibility to the community and the public good and vice versa, affirming that, "In the view of teachers, the primary purpose of accountability in education is to respond to the implicit social contract between society and the public school system."
 - Some distract students from doing their best learning for example, extrinsic rewards being emphasized over intrinsic motivation.
 - Some distract teachers from doing their best teaching.
 - Many policies are poorly implemented by policy-makers.

The fact that some of these policies actually undermine teaching and learning should be greater cause for concern.

Kohn (1999) wryly observes that the term 'accountability' as found in the rhetoric of those advocating for tougher standards and more testing "usually turns out to be a code for tighter control over what happens in classrooms by people who are not in classrooms – and it has approximately the same effect on learning that a noose has on breathing." Gallagher (2004) uses the image of a remote control device to put across the same idea. Drawing on Darling-Hammond's insights, he believes that accountability systems based on "designing controls rather than developing capacity" are doomed to fail, noting that,

...instead of promoting and investing in the expertise of teachers and trusting them to do their job, most state systems focus their resources on building remote-control systems, in which "experts" – administrators, policy makers, politicians, curriculum designers, textbook companies, or testing firms – set and measure the educational agenda from afar. (Gallagher, pp. 353-354)

Cult of testing vs. culture of genuine accountability

Simply stated, accountability in education is about satisfying the public's – including parents' – need to know what schools are doing to improve learning (including but not limited to student achievement) and foster student growth and development, and how well they are doing it. Sirotnik (2002) describes the challenge of rethinking accountability – or "educational responsibility" as he describes it – as "finding creative and useful ways to demonstrate publicly who students are, what they know, what they care about and are able to do, and what they can become." (p. 664) In general, answering for one's actions can range from simple description and explanation to the more demanding requirement of justifying those actions (Leithwood, 2001).

Moving from the cult of testing to a culture of accountability which values and supports teaching and learning is among the challenges before us.

In its policy on accountability, the B.C. Teachers' Federation (2002) states that:

Accountability is a means by which individuals and organizations take responsibility for their actions so that those who depend on them can be assured there are some safeguards in place to encourage good practices and prevent bad practices or abuses, some course of redress for problems that arise, and some assurance of equitable and fair treatment.

The BCTF frames accountability broadly in terms of the education system's responsibility to the community and the public good and vice versa, affirming that, "In the view of teachers, the primary purpose of accountability in education is to respond to the implicit social contract between society and the public school system." This democratic aspect of accountability is discussed by Simey (as cited in Mahony and Hextall, 2000) who maintains that:

... accountability is not a mechanism or a routine but a principle. More than that, it is a principle which serves a specific purpose. In a democracy, that purpose is to provide the basis for the relationship between the society and its members, between those who govern and those who consent to be governed. The word consent provides the significant clue. (Simey 1985 p. 17)"

Accountability systems based on test scores and school rankings that result in rewards and sanctions for students, teachers and schools essentially treat accountability as punishment. The teaching profession is strongly opposed to this coercive approach because it undermines equity and the quality of education – in other words, it simply doesn't work. At the same time, teachers are cognizant of the fact that public accountability is a fundamental principle underlying public education and firmly believe there is a better way to achieving it.

At the International Confederation of Principals symposium on standardized testing held last year in Ottawa, Wayne Hampton, principal of an Alberta elementary school, spoke about the negative impact of testing on student learning. Hampton who has taken the unusual and risky move (at least in Canada) of encouraging parents at his school to boycott the provincial exams in Grades 3, 6 and 9, stated the issue succinctly:

"I understand the political reality. You have to be able to answer to the public, I just think there's a better way to do it than what they're doing We need to move from a culture of testing to a culture of teaching and learning." (Cohen, 2003)

Moving from the cult of testing in which we are currently mired to a culture of accountability which values and supports teaching and learning is among the challenges before us. With this in mind, we pose the following question: What would a thoughtful, alternative, comprehensive framework for achieving genuine accountability in public education look like? We believe it would need to incorporate a number of elements, the specifics of which are outlined in this report.⁷

Standardized testing ≠ accountability (or, what accountability is *not*)

... counting what can be measured and measuring what does not count threatens to lead to the "trivial pursuit" approach to education goals.

(Rutledge, 2004, p. 6)

A recognition that standardized testing and school rankings are the wrong path to accountability, indeed that they represent a serious distortion of the concept, is a critical step. The problems with testing – in terms of its flawed nature, the questionable ways that results are used to make important decisions, and the adverse impact testing has on educational equity – are well documented.

Canadian Teachers' Federation (CTF) opposition to highstakes standardized testing stems from a number of issues and concerns (see Froese-Germain, 1999). Standardized tests are inadequate for assessing student learning and development for many reasons – to cite just a few: Standardized testing and school rankings are the wrong path to accountability, indeed they represent a serious distortion of the concept.

- Tests may be standardized, but students (and teachers and teaching) are not.
- Many types of knowledge and ability as well as important personal attributes are not captured by a standardized test.⁸
- Standardized tests typically measure lower-order recall of facts and skills, and penalize higher-order thinking.⁹
- Test preparation and administration take up valuable classroom time and resources that could be used for teaching.
- Standardized testing is incompatible with current knowledge and ideas about the nature of children's learning and development.¹⁰

The limitations of the multiple choice format¹¹, mismatches in content between what is tested and what is taught, and the issue of "score-spread" are phenomena well known in educational testing circles but likely little known to the average parent or student (or even teacher). To quote Popham (2002) on the consequences of test score-spread:

To illustrate how instructional insensitivity gets incorporated in a traditionally constructed standardized achievement test, consider the nature of the test items that contribute best to the production of scorespread. Items that are answered correctly by only about half the examinees do a great job in spreading out examinees' total-test scores. On the other hand, items answered correctly by a large proportion of examinees – for instance, 80 percent or higher – do not help produce score-spread.

Accordingly, the developers of Alpha-like standardized achievement tests avoid putting these sorts of high-success items on a test when it's first built and almost certainly will remove such items when the test is revised. Items that are answered correctly by most students do not contribute their share to the production of score-spread.

But here's the catch: Test items on which students perform well will often cover the topics that teachers have emphasized instructionally. The more significant the topic, the more likely teachers will stress it. Yet, the better that students perform on items related to any teacherstressed topics, the less likely it is that those items will be found on the test. There is, therefore, a powerful tendency to remove from traditional standardized achievement tests those items covering the most important things that students learn in school. [emphasis added] (pp. 19-20)

Not only is this antithetical to good teaching and effective learning, it works against the interests of poor and minority kids. The sources of score-spread are often found in the types of information and knowledge routinely acquired by students as a function of their socio-economic status.

The Alliance for Childhood states that high-stakes testing "may undermine the development of positive social relationships and attitudes towards school and learning."

The health and psychological impacts of high-stakes testing are beginning to receive some long overdue attention – if the reports of test-induced stress and anxiety on children are any indication. Canadian mental health professionals have expressed concerns about the growing incidence of large-scale testing and its health implications (Simner, 2000), and parents in the UK are reporting signs of stress in seven- and eleven-year-old students resulting from large-scale testing in English schools (Ward, 2003). In 2001, a group of prominent U.S. psychologists, psychiatrists and educators, through the Alliance for Childhood, issued a statement of concern accompanied by a call to action on high-stakes testing, citing evidence of harm to children's health. It states that

...children's levels of stress and test-related anxiety are showing up as headaches, stomach aches, sleep problems, attendance problems, acting out, and depression. The political push for even more standardized testing ... has ignored the adverse health consequences of such policies.

The anecdotes about kids in tears and even throwing up on their test papers – and the contingencies some schools are taking for this latter eventuality – are heartbreaking.

High-stakes testing creates a

situation in which students

struggling with material or

who have special needs can be

Ultimately, high-stakes testing

perpetuates the idea that a good

The Alliance for Childhood statement further notes that high-stakes testing "may undermine the development of positive social relationships and attitudes towards school and learning." It is hard to imagine a more disastrous outcome of the accountability movement than turning eager young minds off learning.

In addition, there are serious equity and other issues surrounding high-stakes testing (Canadian Teachers' Federation, 2000; Froese-Germain, 2001):

- High-stakes testing encourages "teaching to the test" rather than teaching for genuine learning, with the result that curriculum is becoming increasingly test-driven.¹²
- Pressure to improve scores on high-stakes tests results in test performance being shaped by factors other than content knowledge.
- seen as a liability because their low scores influence averages.
- High-stakes testing is used as the basis for making decisions about student tracking, grade promotion and grade retention.
- High-stakes testing creates a situation in which students struggling with material or
 who have special needs can be seen as a liability because their low scores influence
 averages (this is elaborated on below).
- High-stakes testing squeezes out "non-tested" subjects thereby narrowing the curriculum. It also overemphasizes certain aspects of the tested subjects (math, language, science).
- High-stakes testing is used to make funding and other major decisions about entire schools and school districts.
- High-stakes testing tends to transfer control over the curriculum to the body which controls the exam.¹³
- High-stakes testing is used to make decisions about high school graduation and in some cases, about student eligibility to receive post-secondary financial aid. The Ontario Secondary School Literacy Test, arguably the most high-stakes test in Canada, is a case in point. At an estimated cost of \$40 million, the OSSIT is

education equals high test scores.

high-stakes test in from, the OSSLT is a sole to graduate from high fluid and complex to be stroyer 73,000 students.

Canada, is a case in point. At an estimated cost of \$40 million, the OSSLT is a blunt instrument being used to determine who will be eligible to graduate from high school. Robertson (Oct. 2002) observes that literacy is "too fluid and complex to be divided by a single cut line" in this way. It is estimated that over 73,000 students have failed the OSSLT since 2001. English as a Second Language (ESL) students are reported to be failing the test at a higher rate than other students (People for Education, 2002). A group of Ontario parents and students is threatening the government with legal action over the test, arguing that it should be scrapped because of the high-stakes attached to it and because it discriminates against disabled students, visible minority students and students in the applied stream (Alphonso, Dec. 12, 2003).

• High-stakes tests are frequently biased against certain groups of students. Many standardized tests have been shown to contain subtle (and not so subtle) racial,

•

linguistic, class and gender biases. The notion that tests are unbiased is false because, as Ollman (2003) notes, "...given the character of the testing process, the attitudes of those who make up any test and the variety of people – coming from so many different backgrounds – who take it, it is impossible to produce a test that does not have serious biases" (pp. 100-101).

• Ultimately, high-stakes testing perpetuates the idea that a good education equals high test scores.

Bartlett (2001) describes how standardized testing has a disproportionately negative impact on poor and minority kids:

When schools perform poorly on tests, pressure to stick to rote learning increases. Because poor and/or predominantly minority schools tend to have the lowest scores, those students tend to get rote instruction for a greater percentage of their time in schools Thus, poor and/or minority students are relegated to a vicious cycle of poor instruction and punitive testing.

Evidence is emerging that pressure from high-stakes testing policies is exacerbating drop-out rates among marginalized youth.

In addition to reducing the quality of education for these students, evidence is emerging that pressure from high-stakes testing policies is exacerbating drop-out rates among marginalized youth (Sirotnik, 2002; Amrein & Berliner, 2002).

Speaking with reference to children with disabilities and other special needs, Robertson (Dec. 2002) is candid in her assessment of how equity is sacrificed in a competitive system of test-driven accountability and more importantly, that it cannot be otherwise in such a system – it is the nature of the beast:

When average test scores determine a school's value, when they are ranked from "best" to "worst," every child who scores below average becomes a competitive liability to the school he or she attends. In effect, schools that serve kids who need public education the most are punished for carrying out their mission, no matter how well they do it, or with how much integrity.

She describes this as a new form of prejudice, "the prejudice against those who might be viewed as a drag on educational productivity."

Kohn (2000) raises issues of educators becoming defensive and competitive in a highstakes environment; of pressure to raise test scores leading to episodes of cheating; of testing contributing to teacher overspecialization in those subject areas targeted by highstakes tests (such as math and science); and of testing narrowing the conversation about education with respect to the overall goals of schooling and what schools should be

doing (pp. 26-29). He also warns that the obsession with testing is driving good teachers and principals out of the teaching profession, especially critical at a time of projected teacher shortages.

Testing narrows the conversation about education with respect to the overall goals of schooling and what schools should be doing.

Despite all that is known about the harmful effects of standardized testing, interest in it remains high. Robert Linn, Co-Director of the National Center for Research on Evaluation, Standards, and Student Testing in California, says that testing has, and continues to be, "a popular instrument of accountability and reform" among policymakers for several reasons (as cited in American Federation of Teachers, 2003):

- Tests are relatively inexpensive and quick to implement compared to other changes such as reducing class size and improving teacher preparation and recruitment.
- Test results are visible and draw media attention because, as Linn notes, "poor results in the first year of a new testing program are usually followed by increasing scores in subsequent years, giving the appearance that schools are improving."
- Testing can be used to indirectly leverage other changes in education that would be otherwise difficult to legislate; flawed test results can lead to poor policy decisions.

According to Rhoades and Madaus (2003), authors of a recent report on the nature and extent of human error in standardized testing, a large part of the appeal of testing – and the attempt to quantify performance generally – also stems from the fact that the numbers generated by the measurement tool tend to give the "appearance of fairness, impartiality, authority and precision." (p. 5) They believe that this facade blinds us to the "fallibility of testing":

Like any measurement tool that produces a number – whether a simple blood pressure reading or complex laboratory test – tests contain error. The widespread belief in their precision does not admit this inherent fallibility. (p. 5)

Errors can result in serious consequences for children including, as noted earlier, grade retention or being unable to graduate from high school. Among the conditions that may spawn testing error are "instituting testing programs without adequate time to evaluate the operation, rushing the piloting process for test questions, and high-volume testing that is conducted within a short period of time." (p. 29) The authors argue that these concerns need to be seen in the context of a largely unregulated testing industry (and the resultant lack of oversight) as well as the dramatic expansion of high-stakes testing in the U.S. under the rigid provisions of NCLB.

In sum, the trend toward high-stakes, measurement-driven, outcomes-based accountability which links standardized test results with rewards and sanctions to students, teachers, schools and entire districts reduces accountability to a bottom-line numbers game with serious consequences for failure.

Making classroom assessment a priority

Eschewing standardized testing as the linchpin of accountability, an alternative approach would emphasize the importance of quality classroom-based assessment, incorporating authentic forms of student assessment. This is assessment that is closely integrated with curriculum and instruction – as Supovitz and Brennan (1997) describe it, assessment "conceived not just as the end product, but also as an episode of learning" (p. 474).

The theme of integration is echoed in the work of the UK-based Assessment Reform Group (ARG)¹⁵ which stresses the importance of distinguishing between assessment *of* learning, and assessment *for* learning. The former pertains to the more conventional practices of grading student work and recording and reporting achievement.

Assessment *for* learning is described as the "process of seeking and interpreting evidence for use by learners and their teachers to decide where the learners are in their learning, where they need to go and how best to get there."

An alternative approach to accountability would emphasize the importance of quality classroom-based assessment, incorporating authentic forms of student assessment.

The latter approach is well grounded in the research. A synthesis of evidence from over 250 studies linking assessment and learning found conclusively that "initiatives designed to enhance effectiveness of the way assessment is used in the classroom to promote learning can raise pupil achievement", with low achievers benefiting most (Assessment Reform Group, 1999, p. 4; see also Black & Wiliam, 1998). The key factors for improving learning through assessment include:

- the provision of effective feedback to pupils;
- the active involvement of pupils in their own learning;
- · adjusting teaching to take account of the results of assessment;
- a recognition of the profound influence assessment has on the motivation and selfesteem of pupils, both crucial influences on learning; and
- the need for pupils to be able to assess themselves and understand how to improve.

There is however also evidence that the use of classroom assessment to enhance student learning is a weak area of UK teachers' actual practice, requiring more attention in programs of initial teacher training and continuing professional development. It would be worthwhile to examine the extent to which Canadian teachers practice assessment for learning as well as the necessary training and support they receive to do this.

ARG has identified a series of ten research-based principles of assessment for learning to guide teachers in their classroom practice (see Assessment Reform Group, 2002). Assessment for learning:

- 1. is part of effective teacher planning
- 2. focuses on how students learn
- 3. is central to classroom practice
- 4. is a key professional skill
- 5. has an emotional impact
- 6. affects learner motivation
- 7. promotes commitment to learning goals and assessment criteria
- 8. helps learners know how to improve
- 9. encourages self-assessment
- 10. recognizes all achievements

Classroom assessments are designed and administered by teachers, evaluated using their best professional judgment, and used for the purpose of supporting student learning.

Respecting and relying on teachers' professional judgment regarding what students know and what they can do is integral to this process. Classroom assessment also entails finding innovative ways of communicating this information to students, teachers, parents and administrators among others. It also means listening to teachers – the experts in pedagogy – when they report the impacts of high-stakes testing on their students' love of learning, as well as on their own professionalism and enjoyment of teaching.

The testing agenda is exacting a high price on teachers' personal and professional judgment. The seeming loss of public trust in the decision-making ability of those who work in classrooms and schools – those closest to the students – can only be described as a paradox. Meier (2002) writes that the

testing enterprise has led teachers and parents to distrust their own ability to see and observe their own children When parents and teachers no longer believe they can directly judge a child's reading ability, when they see the indirect evidence of tests as more credible, then I fear for the relationships between children and the adults they must depend on to grow up well. I worry, too, when children themselves can't tell us whether they are good readers until they see their scores. I know then that one of the goals of a good education – 'know thyself' – has been lost. (p. 198)

The nature of teaching and learning is fundamentally about human relationships and as such, is built on communication and trust. Meier and other educators believe that respect for the numerous human judgments made daily and hourly in individual

classrooms is the essence of accountability. This trust cannot become a casualty of the standardization agenda in education, of the cult of testing.

Many educators believe the need to revalue classroom-based assessment is long overdue, particularly in the current reform climate. Briefly, these are assessments:

- designed and administered by teachers, and evaluated using their best professional judgment.
- used for the purpose of supporting student learning (e.g., provide informed feedback to students about their work).
- which demonstrate what students know and can do.

"Research suggests that the classroom assessments teachers use day in and day out provide one of the most powerful tools available for improving student achievement."

Writing in Education Week, Olson (2002) says that:

Regardless of the form they take – weekly quizzes, end-of-semester tests, teacher questioning, comments and grades on homework, oral presentations, projects, or portfolios – classroom assessments are the most common, and some would say most ignored, kind of educational measurement. While most public attention these days is riveted on the results of large-scale testing programs, research suggests that the classroom assessments teachers use day in and day out provide one of the most powerful tools available for improving student achievement.

"Individual assessment in the context of teaching usually relies upon a wide variety of data points. A teacher assessing the performance of a student sees the student in many situations in the classroom and often outside of the classroom The picture the teacher receives is replete and it is built up over weeks and months."

To do this well is as much an art as a science. Speaking to delegates at the 1998 B.C. Teachers' Federation Annual General Meeting, Elliot Eisner reflected on the subtle, ongoing and organic nature of classroom assessment – and the central role occupied by the teacher in this process:

Individual assessment in the context of teaching usually relies upon a wide variety of data points. A teacher assessing the performance of a student sees the student in many situations in the classroom and often outside of the classroom. The teacher sees not only the work the student produces in a field of study, but also sees the way a student responds, the character of the student's engagement, the kind of questions the student asks, the student's willingness to take risks, to speculate, to be tenacious. The picture the teacher receives is replete and it is built up over weeks and months.

Unlike large-scale assessment, feedback from classroom assessment is timely and relevant, enabling teachers to use the information to tailor instruction to students' needs and learning styles. Formal and informal mechanisms can be used to report information to students and parents e.g., report cards, parent-teacher interviews, student-led conferences, learning portfolios, school and classroom visits, surveys of parent and student satisfaction and engagement levels (the latter might include assessing how engaged parents are in their children's education in terms of monitoring and helping with school work, talking to teachers, participating in school events, etc.). Eisner's description of classroom assessment is consistent with the idea that, as Bracey (2000) suggests, "good teaching is situational. Classes differ from year to year. Teachers differ from year to year and condition to condition." (p. 189)

Assessing and evaluating the learning of students from diverse racial, ethnic and social class backgrounds is complex because it needs to consider differences with respect to language, culture and learning style.

The National Center for Fair and Open Testing (Fair Test) describes authentic or performance assessment as a "general term for an assessment activity in which students construct responses, create products, or perform demonstrations to provide evidence of their knowledge and skills" (Neill et al., 1997). It covers a wide range of initiatives including, but certainly not limited to, the following: oral presentations, debates, exhibitions, collections of students' written work, videotapes of performances and other learning experiences, constructions and models and their solutions to problems, experiments and the results of scientific and other inquiries, teacher observations and inventories of individual students' work and behaviour, and cooperative group work (Darling-Hammond, 1994, pp. 5-6). Alternative assessment incorporates student self-assessment (via portfolios and other mechanisms) as well as peer assessment.¹⁶

Assessing and evaluating the learning of students from diverse racial, ethnic and social class backgrounds is complex because it needs to consider differences with respect to language, culture and learning style. Authentic assessment is viewed as having the potential to address the negative equity implications of standardized testing. This is because it allows teachers to

incorporate a variety of methods to diagnose students whose learning styles may not fit the standardized testing paradigm [and] the flexibility of allowing students to be tested in multiple types of settings is also consistent with the literature on cultural diversity, which suggests cultural preferences for different ways of participating in classroom activities (Supovitz and Brennan, 1997, p. 477).

Enthusiasm for authentic assessment does need to be tempered somewhat, according to Hargreaves et al. (2002), who caution against seeing it as the "'holy grail' of educational change" (p. 90). In addition to the fact that it is by nature time- and labour-intensive (for students as well as for teachers), there are reliability and validity issues as

•

well as an assumption that teachers have the necessary skills and knowledge to carry out alternative assessment. Looking at classroom assessment from a post-modern perspective, Hargreaves et al. make the point that "in today's complex and uncertain world, human beings are not completely knowable" (p. 88), posing unique challenges for student assessment and evaluation.

Having the testing 'tail' wag the curriculum and instructional 'dog' will only set back efforts to institute more progressive forms of pedagogy geared toward teaching for understanding.

It stands to reason that assessment must be compatible and evolve with our very best knowledge about the nature of children's learning and development, and with progressive pedagogy. American educational researcher Lorrie Shepard (2000) argues however that traditional testing practices, rooted as they are in dated behaviourist learning theories and scientific measurement, are out of synch with an emerging paradigm in which instruction is informed by cognitive and social constructivist learning theories and new thinking about assessment. This mismatch results in the separation of assessment from instruction. To attempt to bridge this gap, Shepard recommends that research on classroom assessment should focus on three areas: reliability and validity issues; the effects of social-constructivist uses of assessment on learning and motivation; and the professional development of teachers.

The teaching profession faces some formidable challenges in moving from the theory to the practice of constructivism, a pedagogical approach which embodies a student-centred, inquiry-based approach to teaching and learning in which children essentially construct new knowledge on the basis of what they already know.

For starters, Casas (2003) points out the obvious incongruity in teacher education programs of the "student's understanding of the constructivist approach to teaching and learning [being] assessed by standardized testing, an assessment tool rooted in behaviorism." Also, according to Windschitl (2002),

the most profound challenges for teachers are not associated merely with acquiring new skills but with making personal sense of constructivism as a basis for instruction, reorienting the cultures of classrooms to be consonant with the constructivist philosophy, and dealing with the pervasive educational conservatism that works against efforts to teach for understanding (p. 131).

According to the CTF 2002 National Issues in Education Poll, Canadians place a high value on classroom assessment.

Having the testing 'tail' wag the curriculum and instructional 'dog' will only set back efforts to institute more progressive forms of pedagogy geared toward teaching for understanding.

There may be reason for cautious optimism on the testing front. There are indications of growing public support for teacher-led assessment. According to the CTF 2002 National Issues in Education Poll, which surveyed nearly 2,300 people across the country, Canadians place a high value on classroom assessment. By a significant margin of two to one, Canadians said that teacher evaluations of student work – not standardized large-scale tests – are the best way to measure student achievement and school performance.

A subsequent public opinion poll on accountability conducted in April 2003 had a similar finding. Respondents favoured teacher evaluation over standardized testing by a margin of more than two to one, with parents reporting the strongest support (CTF, 2003; Schmidt, 2003). The poll also found that test scores are a relatively minor factor in how the public evaluates schools in their community. Canadians would give much greater consideration to such factors as interactions between teachers and parents, the nature of the curriculum, the size of classes in the school, and student fluency in the language of instruction. In response to the question, "Why measure students' progress?", Canadians are unequivocal – by a factor of eight to one (with even stronger support among public school parents), they said that the most important reason to assess student progress is to evaluate how well students are learning, not to rank or compare students and schools.

The more that parents know about and have had experience with alternatives to standardized testing, the more likely they are to support them (Kohn, 2000). Hence, increasing parental and public awareness about the nature of assessment alternatives must become part of any strategy to promote genuine accountability in education.

Hargreaves et al. (2002) tell us that a decade of experimenting with standardized testing in England and Australia is "leading to an easing of mandated curriculum and assessment expectations and to a re-embracing of more flexible, learning-based, student-centered alternatives." (p. 73) A growing backlash against standardized testing in the form of protests, boycotts and legal action is occurring in parts of the U.S.¹⁷ as well as in Canada. Teachers in England are considering a boycott of national curriculum tests in 2004 which would, according to Hatcher (2003), "be the most decisive test yet of the government's ability to impose its business agendas" in education. Parents in more than 20 U.S. states are reported to be opting out of tests by keeping their kids at home on test days (Fisher, 2003). Sirotnik (2002) predicts that "when substantial numbers of middle-and upper-class students start failing high-standards exit exams, the protests are likely to pick up considerable steam." (p. 672)

The more that parents know about and have had experience with alternatives to standardized testing, the more likely they are to support them (Kohn, 2000). Hence, increasing parental and public awareness about the nature of assessment alternatives must become part of any strategy to promote genuine accountability in education.

Public education, equity and democracy

Accountability must be situated within the multiple goals of public education. The *Charter for Public Education*¹⁸ for example emphasizes the importance of the public education system offering learners "a broad-based education which includes aesthetic, artistic, cultural, emotional, social, intellectual, academic, physical and vocational development in order that they can find and follow their hopes, dreams and passions." It also talks about fostering "critical thinking so that learners are equipped to be reflective and analytical global citizens." Eisner (2003) takes a more philosophical tack, noting that

we need to remind ourselves that the function of schools is broader and deeper [than high test scores] and that what really counts is what people do with their lives when they can choose to do what they want to do. In fact, I would argue that the major aim of schooling is to enable students to become the architects of their own education so that they can invent themselves during the course of their lives. (p. 652)

Accountability must be situated within the multiple goals of public education and must be driven by a strong vision of the role of public education in forging a democratic society.

In its discussion paper on accountability, the Canadian School Boards Association states that one of the key elements of an accountability framework is the need for consensus on the goals and objectives of our education system because, "too often, when accountability measures are put in place without a clear consensus on goals, the measured outcomes have little bearing on what is important or relevant." (p. 3) While no general consensus appears to exist on the goals of education, the direction of schools is increasingly being shaped by an economic and labour market agenda.

Further, an accountability framework must be driven by a strong vision of the role of public education in forging a democratic society, a vision equally informed by the principles of equity, accessibility, universality and quality. How well are schools preparing students to become citizens in a world in which the role of citizen is often eclipsed by, or blurred with, the roles of worker and consumer? In his critique of the pervasive influence of the private sector on public education, involvement that takes myriad forms, Kohn (2002) says that:

...we might even go so far as to identify as one of the most crucial tasks in a democratic society the act of limiting the power that corporations have in determining what happens in schools. (p. 119)

Corporate interests and market forces are indeed shaping education systems in some very fundamental ways. With reference to the impact of neo-liberal globalization on the British school system, Hatcher (2003) identifies the emergence of three interconnected yet distinct agendas, agendas which resonate well beyond England's borders and which are facilitated by systems of test-based accountability:

- a business agenda for *what* the school system should do: above all, to produce human capital for competitiveness in the global economy;
- an agenda for *how* it should do it most efficiently: by adopting a business model of management and operation;
- an agenda for what business itself should do *within* the school system: opening up state education systems to private education-for-profit companies.

Pressures for increased trade liberalization in education services through proprivatization trade pacts like the GATS and the FTAA, coupled with the rapidly expanding technology-driven multi-billion dollar global education industry, will almost certainly advance these agendas, posing a threat to public education.

Equity must be at the core of the public education project because it is disadvantaged kids who are most in need of good schools.

On the relationship between accountability and equity, the various education partners must be held accountable for providing a high quality education for all children and, in particular, for how well the public education system serves the most vulnerable students. Equity must be at the core of the public education project because it is disadvantaged kids who are most in need of good schools. A strong advocate for public education, Robertson (Dec. 2002) argues that

not every child needs public education to the same degree. If you're a capable, able-bodied student, fortunate enough to have been born to loving parents with the wherewithal to make up for any gaps in your education; if your parents know how to advocate for you; if they can pay for the sports and music programs your school has had to cut; if you're fortunate enough to be this child, you can survive a struggling school system, a poorly-prepared teacher or a shortage of textbooks. If you have none of these advantages, a weakness in public education is not an inconvenience, it is a tragedy from which you may never recover.

The late U.S. Senator Paul Wellstone, another eloquent voice for public education, had this to say about the harsh reality of high-stakes testing in a speech he gave in New York City a few years ago:

It is simply negligent to force children to pass a test and expect that the poorest children, who face every disadvantage, will be able to do as well as those who have every advantage. When we do this, we hold children responsible for our own inaction and unwillingness to live up to our own promises and our own obligations. We confuse their failure with our own. [emphasis added] (Wellstone, 2002/2003, p. 6)

This has satirical overtones – setting up the most vulnerable kids for failure, and then blaming them for it. Ohanian (2002) talks about a specific situation in Birmingham, Alabama in which over 500 African-American high school students with low skills were expelled from school just before a major high-stakes state test. District test scores predictably went up because as she notes, "the easiest way to raise the scores is to make sure the bottom students don't take the test", and the superintendent, coincidentally, received a bonus. Of this and numerous other stories of testing's pervasive and corrosive impacts, she says:

Sometimes real life happenings cloud one's ability to recognize satire. Maybe in the twenty-first century, satire about the schools is no longer even possible. (p. 315)

"It is simply negligent to force children to pass a test and expect that the poorest children, who face every disadvantage, will be able to do as well as those who have every advantage. When we do this, we hold children responsible for our own inaction and unwillingness to live up to our own promises and our own obligations. We confuse their failure with our own."

What works – in classrooms, schools and beyond

In attempting to answer the question, "accountability for what?", an alternative framework needs to be informed by the evidence on what we know fosters student success and good schools. All too often, political ideology trumps the research evidence.

Indeed, there is a growing body of high quality educational research on what works – in the classroom, in the school, and outside the school (Leithwood, Dec. 2002). The things that matter in the classroom include small class size¹⁹, particularly in the primary grades, and the quality of instruction and teachers, as well as high quality early childhood education and supports and services for special needs students. A collaborative professional culture, school-embedded professional develo

An alternative accountability framework needs to be informed by the evidence on what we know fosters student success and good schools.

professional culture, school-embedded professional development, a safe and secure climate for all students, effective school leadership, and small school size are among the things that matter most within the school environment.

"Canadian policy-makers are ignoring the findings of literally decades of research that shows why school libraries and qualified teacher-librarians are essential components in the academic programming of any school."

School libraries, decimated by years of underfunding²⁰, also play a significant role in student learning. Haycock (2003), in a research report commissioned by the Canadian Coalition for School Libraries²¹, makes a strong case for re-investing in the besieged library, noting that

recent state-wide studies of the relationship between school libraries, teacher-librarians and student achievement ... have all come to the same finding: in schools with well-stocked, well-equipped school libraries, managed by qualified and motivated professional teacher-librarians working with support staff, one can expect capable and avid readers; learners who are information literate; teachers who are partnering with the teacher-librarian to create high-quality learning experiences. (p. 10)

Given the wealth of evidence pointing to improved student achievement and literacy, Haycock finds it "disturbing ... that Canadian policy-makers are ignoring the findings of literally decades of research that shows why school libraries and qualified teacher-librarians are essential components in the academic programming of any school."

Students themselves have much to say about what it is they need – and want – to learn, what enables them to learn and what gets in the way of their learning, when they are asked. The Alberta Teachers' Association (2003) did just that in a recent study of about 250 high school students in grades 9 and 12. This exercise of "listening to the learners" yielded some important insights, captured in the students' survey and interview responses, which clustered around several themes: time pressures, relationships with teachers and peers, physical and social space, and experiences of pedagogy (defined in the study as referring to the "qualities of the relationship between teaching and learning as experienced by students and to the practices that, in the view of students, support successful learning." (p. 27)) Students also commented on their "sense of being an embodied learner" – that is, the physicality of school and learning, and the desire to experience pleasure in learning, to experience learning as "hands-on", and to experience a sense of agency as a learner.

Eisner believes creating good schools requires the difficult task of questioning long-standing, taken-for-granted assumptions about the aims and structure of schooling as well as curriculum, pedagogy and evaluation practices.

Beyond the school, the availability of diverse opportunities for professional development, collaborative school district cultures and school district size can make a difference. Leithwood also stresses the importance of a strong "family educational culture" to student success. This can range from parents reading to their kids and providing a quiet place in the home to read and do homework, to dinner conversations around parental expectations and aspirations for school and beyond.

Significantly, the education research community has known for some time that a family's socio-economic status accounts for over 50% of the variation in student achievement across schools, while about 12%-20% of the variation in student achievement is attributable to school-based factors (Leithwood, Dec. 2002).

The education research community has known for some time that a family's socio-economic status accounts for over 50% of the variation in student achievement across schools.

In addition to seeking out and using the best available research, Eisner (2003) believes creating good schools requires the difficult task of questioning long-standing, taken-forgranted assumptions about the aims and structure of schooling as well as curriculum, pedagogy and evaluation practices. He identifies a dozen of these assumptions, including the age-graded school system; the idea that getting all students to the same place at about the same time is the goal of schools; students switching teachers from school year to school year; the narrow emphasis placed on literacy and numeracy at the expense of other "nonlinguistic expressions" of intelligence and how this can result in educational inequities; the disciplinary (versus multidisciplinary) orientation to curriculum; and the belief that school competition can improve educational quality and that examining test scores is the best way to identify good schools.

•

Accountable governance

An alternative framework would recognize that education governance is another critical piece of the accountability puzzle. CTF's Teacher Belief Statement states that "school systems must be governed at different levels by people who are elected by and responsible to the public". While this is fundamental to the idea of public education, democratic forms of educational accountability have been steadily eroded over the past decade through, for example, reductions in the number and powers of school boards and, more recently, the appointment of "supervisors" to replace entire elected boards of school trustees in large urban centres in Ontario – Ottawa, Hamilton and Toronto. (Elected trustees have since been restored to these boards.)

CTF's Teacher Belief Statement states that "school systems must be governed at different levels by people who are elected by and responsible to the public".

According to a CTF consultation paper that formed the basis for its 1999 Vision Statement for Public Education, a number of assumptions flow from the above belief statement:

- Volunteers or people elected by only a subset of the general population are unacceptable substitutes for democratically elected and publicly accountable decision-makers.
- The teaching profession must actively guard the public interest in education, and support the principle of public governance of education. It must also support policy-making structures that are open and accountable, and oppose those that are not.
- The principle of accountable governance of public schools must extend from the local to the national level.

With respect to local governance of education, the paper contrasts democratically elected school boards with volunteer-based parent councils, emphasizing that:

Public education is not public because it is funded by the public, but because it both serves and creates the public. In theory, everyone, not just this year's group of parents, has the right to an equal say in the decisions that shape schools. This principle is demonstrated by the right of every adult to vote; democratic representation justifies general taxation in support of schools. Elected decision-makers, at least in theory, are bounded by a formal accountability that cannot be applied to volunteers who have neither the mandate nor the means of accounting to a public that did not elect them Unlike school boards, which are responsible for balancing the interests of many schools and many different needs, school councils need concern themselves only with 'their' students. (CTF, 1999, pp. 29-30)

On the need for accountability at the national level, the paper contrasts the current situation of "the unaccountable power of the CMEC [Council of Ministers of Education, Canada] and the sometimes clandestine, uncoordinated initiatives of federal departments", with a renewed call for a National Office of Education on which CTF has had policy for a number of years. Respecting provincial jurisdiction over education, such a federal body could have diverse roles: consultation; coordination; guiding and disseminating research; funding innovation; facilitating exchange; and fostering national debate.

According to the consultation paper, the challenge for the teaching profession is to construct and propose

a model for governing schools that maximizes both public involvement and democratic accountability. *Teachers' organizations must recognize that governance, professional autonomy, and accountability are linked, and must explicitly recognize these links in the reforms they propose* [emphasis added]. Meaningful roles for volunteers that respect both their competencies and teachers' professional boundaries must be identified.

Shared responsibility

For the last decade, or longer, accountability has held center stage for those who have shaped educational policies at both the state and federal levels. Although the focus for accountability has been largely on educators and students, the concept applies to all of us. True accountability means broadly shared responsibility, not only among educators and students, but also administrators, policy-makers, parents, and educational researchers. That is, accountability means we all share responsibility for improving education. Further, if we are to meet goals to support our society's future success, this means improving opportunities at all levels of the system – pre-school, K-12, higher education, life-long learning – and effectively reaching all segments of the population. (Linn, 2003, p. 10)

Accountability systems must engage all stakeholders While teachers and students are the most crucial actors in school reform, education is finally best viewed as a whole-community responsibility.

(Gallagher, 2004, p. 358)

It seems obvious, at least to educators, that the responsibility for student learning and overall educational quality is one that must be shared among many partners. Teachers are one of several albeit more directly involved players. Linn (2003) recounts that,

When a group of educators in Washington state was asked what words or concepts they thought should be associated with accountability, the most frequent word was "responsibility" and the second most frequent was "shared" (p. 3).

Other education partners include students, parents, early childhood educators, support staff, administrators, school councils, school boards, teachers' organizations, faculties of education, communities and various levels of government.

As these different partners have different responsibilities, it is important to be clear about, as Earl (1995) explains, who is accountable, to whom is the account owed, for what, in what manner, and under what circumstances. Teachers, teachers' organizations and school administrators need to remind parents and the public that, unless *all* of the partners are held accountable for their diverse roles and responsibilities, we can only speak of educational accountability in a vacuum.

Another way to look at the notion of shared responsibility is to think of accountability as consisting of different modes or forms – financial, political, democratic, legal, ethical, professional, academic/learning; and taking place at multiple levels – individual,

•

•

institutional, local, provincial, regional, national and global. Accordingly, accountability for different modes at different levels will, with considerable overlap, reside with different bodies.

"Accountability systems must engage **all** stakeholders While teachers and students are the most crucial actors in school reform, education is finally best viewed as a whole-community responsibility."

Darling-Hammond (1999) notes that in a comprehensive system of educational accountability, the various players, from the federal and provincial governments down to the individual school and teacher as well as students, parents and the broader community, have important roles and responsibilities to fulfill and for which they must be held to account. For example, the province or state "should be responsible for resourcing schools so that they can provide adequate education, for ensuring that there is equity in the distribution of those resources, [and] for assuring that there is a means by which qualified, well-prepared staff will be in all schools in those settings." Local school districts are responsible "for practices that are supportive of good teaching and learning in schools, [and] for processes that support [these practices]."

Ideally, as Linn stresses above, accountability should also mean shared responsibility for improving education at all levels – from pre-school through to post-secondary, adult education and beyond – extending the network of players and stakeholders, and recognizing that education is a continuum. This speaks to the idea referred to earlier of accountability as a form of social contract between schools and other institutions of learning, and their communities.

Accountability incorporates the idea of ensuring all students are provided with adequate **opportunities to learn**.

Further, an alternative approach would recognize our collective accountability (including that of governments) for providing the various 'inputs' – qualified committed people, material resources, infrastructure, dollars – necessary for the delivery of quality public education. This is in sharp contrast to high-stakes testing and standards-based reform which demand accountability only for measurable outputs. It also incorporates the idea of ensuring all students are provided with adequate *opportunities to learn*, recognizing the complex reality of teaching and learning in a diverse society as well as the fact that social and economic factors have a direct bearing on one's capacity to take advantage of educational opportunities. As Kuehn (2002) notes, "hungry children don't learn as well as those with a full stomach; students without family and community supports don't get the full advantage of education." (p. 4)

The concept of opportunity-to-learn is an important feature of BCTF's accountability model. According to the BCTF (2002), this approach to accountability

fits the public education system, ... recognizes the complexities of teaching and learning, and ... holds all levels accountable for the aspects of education for which they have authority and responsibility Output data alone [such as test scores] are too narrow to allow teachers and the community to analyze problems and improve our public education system. It is important to base the accountability system on an array of data that looks at the opportunities students have to learn as well as how well they have learned. In both cases, there is a need for multiple authentic indicators that allow us to explore the complexities of teaching and learning and improve education.

Indicators must consider contextual factors, such as ethnic/racial diversity of the school and community, employment levels, labour market conditions, poverty rates, housing supply and conditions, and family socio-economic status.

In its work with the provincial government and other education partners to design a system of educational indicators for Manitoba, the Manitoba Teachers' Society also emphasizes the importance of multiple indicators for holding the education system accountable. Potential indicators, which incorporate opportunity-to-learn factors, fall into three basic categories²²:

- Indicators that assess educational outcomes for example, academic achievement, student completion rates, attitudes toward citizenship issues, media literacy, student engagement, and the proportion of the population with post-secondary education, to name a few.
- Indicators that assess educational processes or "inputs" such as:
 - per-pupil funding
 - class size
 - quality and quantity of learning resources such as textbooks and library books
 - status of the school library and teacher-librarians
 - access to quality early childhood education and care programs
 - special education teachers and services
 - ESL teachers and programs
 - access to professional support services personnel such as social workers and psychologists
 - teacher quality
 - parental and community involvement
 - availability of specialist teachers (e.g., music and physical education), as well as
 educational assistants
 - nature and frequency of extra-curricular activities

- intensity of school fundraising efforts
- status of school buildings and other infrastructure
- Indicators that consider contextual factors, such as ethnic/racial diversity of the school and community, employment levels, labour market conditions, poverty rates (including child poverty²³), housing supply and conditions, and family socioeconomic status.

Any number of other attributes could be identified within each of these categories, many of which would be school and community specific and as such, would need to be identified by those working at the local level.

There are other notable initiatives taking place with the use of alternative indicators.

People for Education, a non-profit education advocacy group, conducts annual surveys that provide an inventory of the "quantifiable resources" available within Ontario's elementary and secondary schools. Among the indicators it uses (some of which are listed above) are class size, administrative staff (principals, vice-principals, office staff), specialist teachers, library resources, special education teachers and services, professional support services, educational assistants, ESL teachers and programs, user

Missing Pieces: An Alternative Guide to Canadian Post-Secondary Education uses four basic indicators - accessibility, equity, quality, and public accountability - to assess the state of post-secondary education in each province.

fees and fundraising, school buildings and custodians, busing, and community use of schools. Tracking changes in the indicators over time has allowed People for Education to gauge the impact of funding and other policy changes on the public education system as well as to identify and monitor trends. Hargreaves (2003) has high praise for the People for Education parent network, saying their efforts "galvanize[d] public opinion and support, helping to stall the march of market fundamentalism and standardization in Ontario's educational reform by publicly documenting its effects on teachers, schools, and students." (p. 206)

A report produced by Campaign 2000 identifies several indicators within four categories to assess Canada's progress on early childhood education and care²⁴. The indicators are broken down by province/territory:

- Public expenditure Indicator: Public expenditure on regulated child care
- Availability Indicators: Growth in the number of regulated spaces; participation as a proportion of all children
- Affordability Indicators: Eligibility criteria and shortfall between subsidy and parent fee; cost of child care as a proportion of a family's budget
- Quality Indicators: Hourly wages of early childhood education staff in comparison to minimum wage; staff training and education; child/staff ratios; inclusiveness

Missing Pieces: An Alternative Guide to Canadian Post-Secondary Education (Doherty-Delorme & Shaker, 2003), published annually by the Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives since 1999, emerged partly in response to the influential Maclean's ranking of universities. Missing Pieces uses four basic indicators – accessibility, equity, quality, and public accountability – to assess and "rate" the state of post-secondary education in each province. Each of these indicators is further comprised of several sub-indicators, which are refined from year to year.

For example, accessibility is measured on the basis of factors such as student participation rates, tuition fee levels, and student debt loads. A commitment to equity takes into consideration the percentages of female university faculty and international students, unemployment levels for graduates, and university fees as a percentage of after-tax income. Quality is measured in terms of expenditures on education (per full-time student and as a share of provincial GDP), student-faculty ratios, and faculty salaries. Accountability, described as the "degree to which governments ensure that post-secondary education remains accountable to the public, as opposed to private sources", is assessed by looking at the proportion of education budgets coming from student fees and other private sources, and government grants. This is an interesting and useful exercise that could be modified for K-12 education.

Whatever their ideological roots, educational policies should not contradict the best available evidence about what works.

While the accountability spotlight seems to have been aimed squarely at teachers and students, politicians and other decision-makers have escaped behind the shallow rhetoric of test-based accountability. Leithwood (Dec. 2002) proposes holding governments truly accountable for the development of educational policy through a set of "standards" or guidelines focused on both policy content and process:

Policy content standards

- At a minimum, educational policy should do no harm to students or reduce their learning opportunities (described as a kind of "Hippocratic Oath" for policymakers).
- Whatever their ideological roots, policies should not contradict the best available evidence about what works.
- Policies should reflect the economic, social and cultural needs and aspirations of the vast majority of citizens in other words, when it comes to crafting policy, "equity is *not* a choice".

Policy process standards

- All groups of citizens should be treated humanely and with respect during the policy development and implementation process.
- Citizens should not knowingly be misinformed about the nature or likely consequences of new policies.
- The process should not be excessively turbulent over protracted periods of time.

Focusing on professional accountability

As noted earlier, market and bureaucratic forms of accountability predominate in education. The professional accountability model holds considerable potential for improving student learning by enhancing the quality of teachers and teaching and generally advancing professionalism.

Teachers should be specifically accountable for "the educational program they design, for the instructional strategies and learning resources they choose, and for the assessment strategies they use. Accountability, in this sense, turns on the professional decisions of teachers and the degree to which these decisions meet the individual needs of students."

Professional autonomy

In the same way that one of the keys to successful learning is creating the conditions for students to take ownership for their learning, successful teaching involves providing the profession with opportunities to take ownership for their teaching.

The BCTF (2002) believes that teachers should be specifically accountable for

the educational program they design, for the instructional strategies and learning resources they choose, and for the assessment strategies they use. Accountability, in this sense, turns on the professional decisions of teachers and the degree to which these decisions meet the individual needs of students. [emphasis added]

The accent here is on professional autonomy, an important means by which teachers and other professionals demonstrate their accountability. Chapman (2003) states that,

teachers have traditionally exercised professional autonomy, and there has been a long-standing societal understanding and expectation that teachers would exercise some degree of professional autonomy Sometimes, perhaps because of this long history, we take our professional autonomy for granted. This is unfortunate because professional autonomy is fundamental to both the quality of our working lives as teachers and our ability to be effective teachers. [emphasis added] (p. 4)

As stated, at the heart of professional autonomy is a teacher's right to make decisions that enable them to meet diverse and changing student needs and abilities. Among the most rewarding aspects of teaching according to Chapman (2003) are the things teachers make myriad daily professional choices about – for example, "choices that help a student learn, choices that make a difficult concept attainable, choices that make course work interesting and engaging for students." (p. 4) She also says that most educational innovations such as cooperative learning and portfolio assessment are the result of teachers' professional autonomy. Standardized reform is inconsistent with and threatens this autonomy.

A national poll on schools and accountability conducted for CTF found that teacher quality was cited by Canadians as the most important determinant of a child's success in school.

Because they know their students and are well placed to make educational decisions in the best interests of those students, teachers must have the freedom to exercise their professional judgment in the classroom and in schools generally.

Teacher quality and professional development

The concept of professional accountability recognizes the important link between teacher quality and student achievement, a link firmly grounded in research. It follows that teachers require ongoing access to the knowledge and support necessary to make sound educational decisions in their classrooms every day in order to improve student learning (Darling-Hammond & Berry, 1998). As Darling-Hammond (1988) explains it,

...the major reason for seeking to create a profession of teaching is that it will increase the probability that all students will be well educated because they are well taught – that professionalism seeks to heighten accountability by investing in knowledge and its responsible use." [emphasis added] (p. 8)

The public seems to concur. A national poll on schools and accountability conducted for CTF found that teacher quality was cited by Canadians as the most important determinant of a child's success in school (CTF, 2003).

Professional development is key to enhancing teacher quality.

Professional development is key to enhancing teacher quality. The term 'professional development' goes well beyond the more formal learning activities associated with teacher participation at conferences and workshops. According to the Alberta Teachers' Association (2001), professional development is

...any planned activity that provides teachers with an opportunity for growth in knowledge, skills and attitudes leading to improved teaching practice and enhanced student learning. This broad definition encompasses a range of activities: an individual teacher's reading, exploring a website, or doing research or inquiry in the classroom; individuals or groups of teachers attending a conference or course focused on new teaching skills; groups of teachers collaboratively identifying a problem, and designing and implementing a solution; groups of teachers involved in action research or other forms of deliberate inquiry; groups of teachers working on a specialist council; groups of teachers participating in a curriculum implementation process; school staffs setting goals or identifying needs, and designing and implementing a program to meet the goals. As illustrated by the examples, a professional development program may vary in nature from individual reflective practices to collective collaborative projects by groups of teachers.

The ATA has developed a "Framework for Professional Development in Alberta", based on principles related to context, content and process (see *Improving Public Education: Supporting Teaching and Learning*, 2002, p. 37).

The Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario believes that "the scope of professional development activities must be broad, to capture the diversity of individual [student] needs", and that teachers must "have the flexibility to choose the professional development that best meets their individual needs and supports their work with students."

The Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (ETFO, 2002) believes that "the scope of professional development activities must be broad, to capture the diversity of individual [student] needs", and that teachers must "have the flexibility to choose the professional development that best meets their individual needs and supports their work with students." (p. 1)

The growing emphasis on teacher professional development stems in part from what Bascia (1999) describes as "a genuine desire to help teachers learn to work more effectively with an increasingly linguistically, culturally, racially, and economically diverse student population", as well as "the belief that teachers should play a greater and more informed role in shaping educational practice." (p. 2) She also discusses the need for a diversity of approaches to professional development, ranging from formal to informal and non-formal opportunities for learning.

Research into teacher participation in school-related learning activities indicates a high level of commitment to ongoing professional growth. As part of a major national study by the Research Network on New Approaches to Lifelong Learning (NALL²⁵), examining informal learning practices among Canadians, a survey of nearly 2,000 teachers was conducted in conjunction with CTF and its member organizations. The survey looked at formal and informal learning voluntarily engaged in by teachers. It

Teachers undertake more formal and informal learning than other sectors with similar educational backgrounds, or the general public.

found that teachers engage in an average of 11.7 hours per week of formal learning through courses, workshops, conferences, etc. The study also reported that teachers average 10.3 hours per week of informal learning through avenues such as school colleagues, community volunteer work, and electronic networking. Areas of informal learning included curriculum policy/curriculum development, subject-related learning, classroom management skills, communications skills, and new knowledge and developments related to teaching (Clark, 1999). By comparison, teachers undertake more formal and informal learning than other sectors with similar educational backgrounds, or the general public. NALL is undertaking a follow-up survey.

The professional learning community model attempts to foster within schools a collaborative learning culture.

There is much in the professional development literature about the concept of professional learning communities (PLCs) as a means of addressing some of the shortcomings of conventional professional development – e.g., isolated workshops, little follow-up or support for change, not entirely relevant to practice. The professional learning community model attempts to foster within schools a collaborative learning culture, effectively (and appropriately) transforming the school into a learning organization. The ATA (2002) reports that,

According to the research, effective schools – schools that consistently have high student achievement – are professional learning communities. A professional learning community is a school in which staff members provide meaningful and sustained assistance to one another to improve teaching and student learning. Embedded within learning communities are teams that meet regularly and provide technical and social support. These four-to-eight-member teams may consist of individuals from the same grade level or department or individuals from across the school or district (p. 34).

The ATA report documents some of the research evidence to support the educational benefits of organizing schools as PLCs. Reflecting on the ATA's own work with Alberta schools involved in the implementation of PLC initiatives, Skytt (2003) asserts that the "development of professional learning communities can improve conditions for teachers to do their best work with students, if the necessary resources are provided." (p. 8)

In order to build strong professional learning communities, it will be necessary to "shift from system policies that seek to provide standardized practice to those that aim to strengthen teachers' judgement and opportunity to learn."

Drawing from his new book, *Teaching In the Knowledge Society*, Hargreaves (2003) discusses PLCs in the context of two major principles of accountability: accountability by *culture* and accountability by *contract*.²⁶ He argues that we have moved from a society where quality was once assured, albeit imperfectly, through cultures of relationship in which communities were committed to, and responsible for common goals and each other (accountability by culture); to a world where quality is meant to be assured through external and formal contracts to fulfill job descriptions and outside expectations and to meet prescribed performance standards (accountability by contract). Education reform is increasingly dominated by the latter.

Hargreaves (2003) contrasts several types of contract and culture regimes in education, with varying degrees of emphasis on either contract or culture, placing particular emphasis on PLCs.²⁷ A strong professional learning community is one which "brings together the knowledge, skills, and dispositions of teachers in a school or across schools to promote shared learning and improvement." (p. 170) It is characterized by teamwork, inquiry and continuous learning through such mechanisms as teacher networks and action research groups.

Highly critical of the impact of standards-driven reform on the potential of the professional learning community model, Hargreaves believes PLCs are at odds both with "demands for quick results in raising achievement levels", and with the "soulless standardization of testing regimes or highly prescriptive curriculum frameworks." (p. 175) He adds that PLCs

do not flourish in standardized systems that severely restrict teachers' discretion for decision-making and self-initiated change standardized educational reform damages rather than develops strong professional learning communities." (p. 170)

As such, in order to build strong PLCs, it will be necessary to "shift from system policies that seek to provide standardized practice to those that aim to strengthen teachers' judgement and opportunity to learn.'" (McLaughlin & Talbert as cited in Hargreaves, 2003, p. 171) Policy-makers should take heed.

Professional learning yields important benefits for student achievement. Contrary to the perception that teacher PD days and release time are 'perks' that erode instructional time, the research on ongoing in-service professional development suggests that it is positively associated with gains in student learning. Hargreaves (2003) remarks on the growing recognition that "high-quality professional development for teachers is indispensable in bringing about deep and lasting changes in students' achievement." (p. 161)

According to Darling-Hammond (Feb. 1998), the characteristics of effective professional development strategies which improve teaching include the following (excerpted from Darling-Hammond, 1998, p. 11; see also Darling-Hammond & McLaughlin, 1995):

- they are experiential, engaging teachers in concrete tasks of teaching, assessment, observation and reflection that illuminate the processes of learning and development.
- they are grounded in participants' questions, inquiry, and experimentation as well as profession-wide research.
- they are collaborative, involving a sharing of knowledge among educators and a focus on teachers' communities of practice rather than on individual teachers.
- they are connected to and derived from teachers' work with their students as well as to examinations of subject matter and teaching methods.
- they are sustained and intensive, supported by modeling, coaching, and collective problem-solving around specific problems of practice.
- they are connected to other aspects of school change.

Ultimately, student learning and growth is highly dependent on teacher learning and growth.

The research on ongoing in-service professional development suggests that it is positively associated with gains in student learning.

As part of an alternative response to the Ontario government's mandatory recertification program, ETFO (2002) has produced a working guide on teachers' professional portfolios. The portfolio is described as a form of voluntary teacher-directed professional development intended to demonstrate professional accountability. Among the reasons for keeping a portfolio is to provide tangible evidence of professional learning and growth over time in support of quality education for students. The working guide suggests a broad "menu" or range of professional learning experiences that can be incorporated in a portfolio:

• *academic programs* – e.g., courses offered through universities, colleges, teacher organizations or other institutions

- research activities e.g., conducting an individual inquiry related to teaching
 practice; working collaboratively on a research team; investigating, accessing and
 applying educational research
- professional networks e.g., contributing to subject associations or the work of teachers' organizations; participating on school councils, school-based committees or school board committees
- *professional activities* e.g., developing and maintaining a professional portfolio; reading educational books and journals; attending workshops and conferences; participating in curriculum and assessment projects
- mentoring and networking e.g., mentoring a
 colleague or a student teacher; planning cooperatively
 with colleagues; forming and attending a study group
- professional contributions e.g., publishing an article, resource or study; developing a professional workshop or conference
- learning through practice e.g., developing and/or implementing a curriculum unit or resource; implementing a new instructional or assessment strategy; conducting an action research project; sharing the results of research with school colleagues and others

As the rate of teacher retirements increases, providing meaningful opportunities for teachers to learn from each other and to pass on the valuable accumulated knowledge and wisdom of the profession to new recruits takes on added urgency.

• *learning through community involvement* – e.g., participating actively in or organizing a community initiative; serving as a community organization board member

As the rate of teacher retirements increases, providing meaningful opportunities such as these for teachers to learn from each other and to pass on the valuable accumulated knowledge and wisdom of the profession to new recruits takes on added urgency. To take one example, it is estimated that by the year 2005, about 50,000 of Ontario's 124,000 public school teachers will have five years experience or less (Harris, 2001).

Clearly, the best route to enhancing teacher quality is through investing in more comprehensive and diverse approaches to professional development and growth. In practical terms, this means:

- improving the quality of pre-service education programs;
- giving increased attention to teacher recruitment and retention (this will necessitate finding ways to address workload and stress issues);
- providing strong support to beginning teachers to facilitate their entry into teaching and to retain them in the profession, including induction and mentoring programs; accountability for teacher success must include mentoring new teachers to stem the tide of those who "drop-out" in their initial years in the classroom;
- investing in ongoing in-service professional development to assist teachers throughout their careers;

- instituting models of teacher evaluation which incorporate a variety of approaches including performance evaluation by trained principals and authentic forms of assessment such as structured classroom observation and professional portfolios (Miles, 2000)²⁸;
- ensuring teachers have adequate time to take advantage of professional development opportunities, as well as to prepare lessons and consult and plan with their colleagues.

On being accountable to oneself

In addition to being directly accountable to students and their parents, teachers also have a responsibility *to themselves* for enhancing their professional knowledge and growth. This is critical as teaching becomes increasingly complex, as educators gain more knowledge about how children learn and develop, and as the student population becomes more diverse. Being accountable to oneself can strengthen professional resiliency and self-esteem and enable teachers to articulate their professional identity, both individually and collectively.

This of course raises the question of who is accountable to the teacher for ensuring they have the training, opportunities for professional learning, etc. The STF Policy on Teacher Success (contained in the report, *Enhancing Teacher Success*) states that: "Accountability for teacher success is a responsibility that is shared among key participants in the education system." (p. 17). The policy articulates the responsibilities of the individual teacher, the teaching profession, and the education community as a whole.

Accordingly, professional development must be a jointly shared responsibility among individual teachers, school administrators and other staff, teachers' organizations, school boards, ministries/departments of education, and faculties of education. This is made explicit in a document by the Catholic educational community in Ontario (including OECTA) outlining a professional learning framework for teachers. The framework clarifies the roles and responsibilities of the various partners for quality teacher professional learning and development – in this case the major partners are teachers, government, school boards, teachers' organizations and the Ontario College of Teachers (A Professional Learning Framework: An Integrated Vision, 1999).

The Saskatchewan Teachers' Federation report, *Enhancing Teacher Success*, articulates policies on teacher success and teacher supervision and evaluation. It also contains guiding principles and the supports necessary for successful teaching practice, including what teachers require as they carry out their professional roles and responsibilities. Specifically, Saskatchewan teachers expect to have:

- employment conditions that are consistent with the teaching profession's understanding of an equitable, ethical, respectful, healthy, and safe work environment.
- teaching assignments and other related duties or responsibilities that are commensurate with their professional knowledge, skills and experience, taking into consideration the context in which they work.

•

the designated time, teaching resources, and supports, as identified by the teaching profession, that enable them to create and maintain a learning environment that meets students' diverse educational needs. Specifically, this includes sufficient funding for educational programs, services, and resources; adequate and well scheduled preparation and release time; parental and community support; and other personnel (e.g., professionals from other fields as well as teacher associates) and material supports that the teaching profession has identified as essential. It also means ensuring that the culture, policies and practices of school divisions and schools support continuing professional growth through:

Most teachers polled in a teacher workplace survey by the Canadian Teachers' Federation indicated that the major factor influencing their decision to enter the profession was their love of children and teaching.

- a recognition that teachers have diverse professional growth needs and interests, depending upon such factors as the individual's teaching position and teaching assignment, the specific learning needs of the teacher's students, the individual's personal and professional background, and so on;
- · access to appropriate and timely professional growth opportunities;
- funding for registration, materials, transportation, and related costs;
- designated time during the school day;
- processes to share knowledge and skills with colleagues, where appropriate.
- direct involvement, in collaboration with other education stakeholders, in the processes of curriculum development, implementation, evaluation, and renewal.
- direct involvement, in collaboration with education stakeholders, in the decision making processes that are used to define and revise the goals and direction of publicly funded education.

(Excerpted from Enhancing Teacher Success, pp. 12-14.)

On the joy of teaching

The importance of intrinsic motivators for teachers cannot be underestimated, and they attract many to the profession in the first place. The research on teachers' strong intrinsic commitment to the work of student learning is abundant. Most teachers polled in a teacher workplace survey by the Canadian Teachers' Federation (2001) indicated that the major factor influencing their decision to enter the profession was their love of children and teaching. A 1999 survey of primary school teachers in England and Wales conducted by the National Union of Teachers (NUT) also found that "working with children and being able to make a difference to their lives" was the aspect of their work teachers most enjoyed. Other occupations should be so fortunate, according to Leithwood, Fullan and Watson (2003), who state that

...virtually all relevant evidence has portrayed a level of "intrinsic" commitment by teachers to the learning of their clients by teachers that other organizations can only dream of with their employees. Reformers

•

are wasting their resources, this evidence suggests, by excessively and exclusively focussing on high stakes motivational strategies

Resources would better be spent on improving those conditions of work that are known to matter for teaching and learning. (pp. 14-15)

Among the factors contributing to high teacher workload and stress is the number and frequency of "externally-imposed 'reforms', especially those [associated] with increased accountability measures such as large-scale testing."

More serious consideration needs to be given to the fact that teachers' working conditions are closely linked to job satisfaction and motivation, as well as students' learning conditions, professional autonomy, and recruitment and retention²⁹. The erosion of working conditions, including excessive workload and related stress, adversely affects all of these things, and may be having a disproportionate impact on women. The BCTF reports that

There may be more serious consequences for women teachers in terms of work-induced stress than have been widely discussed, and there exists some evidence of systemic discrimination against women in terms of adjudicating disability claims. For a profession that is about two-thirds female, these data are disturbing, and might lead to a sharper focus on gender by teacher unions, employers, and governments in addressing workload issues. (Naylor, Schaefer & Malcolmson, 2003, p. iv)

Among the many factors contributing to high workload and stress is the number and frequency of "externally-imposed 'reforms', especially those [associated] with increased accountability measures such as large-scale testing." (Naylor, 2001) This will be addressed in more depth in the next section.

CTF Vision for Public Education

Adopted in 1999, CTF's Vision for Public Education statement emphasizes the critical role of the teaching profession in fostering a strong public education system, highlighting the importance of professional knowledge, judgment and autonomy:

- A knowledgeable, committed and responsible teaching profession is essential to the provision of quality education.
- The quality of teachers rests on their professional knowledge and judgment, their engagement in their professional work, and their sense of responsibility to their learners, their profession, their communities and themselves.
- Teachers must work in partnership with parents and the community but they also must have the freedom to apply their professional judgment.

- Teaching involves a large range of decisions about the needs of learners, the appropriate pedagogical approach, content selection and organization, use of learning resources, evaluation of success, and guidance for further learning.
- The basis and justification of a profession is the knowledge and judgment of its members.
- Decisions about teaching and learning rest on the foundation of teachers' academic
 education, their professional knowledge and skills, their analysis of research findings
 and their experience.
- The profession must ensure that teachers have the autonomy to rely on their reflective judgment so that they can act as professionals and serve their learners in a responsible and responsive manner.

The quality of teachers rests on their professional knowledge and judgment, their engagement in their professional work, and their sense of responsibility to their learners, their profession, their communities and themselves The profession must ensure that teachers have the autonomy to rely on their reflective judgment so that they can act as professionals and serve their learners in a responsible and responsive manner.

(CTF Vision for Public Education Statement, 1999)

Barriers to teacher professionalism

...probably the greatest threat to teaching today is the seeming indifference shown to the experience of teachers by those most responsible for framing [contemporary] educational policies (Smith, 2000, p. 16).

A confluence of factors poses a threat to teacher professionalism. These include the potential for new technologies to de-skill teachers through reducing the workforce and/ or radically altering the role of teachers; substantially increased workloads and the accompanying stress; more prescriptive curricula; decreased time and funding for professional development; the decreasing role of teachers in the design, implementation and evaluation of educational reform initiatives; and as noted elsewhere in this report, the neglect of teachers' professional judgment from student assessment and evaluation as external standardized testing programs become the norm (Rodrigue, 1999).

"Across the education landscape, the movement toward standards is a movement away from teacher responsibility and agency. As curricula, teaching strategies, outcomes, and evaluation techniques are standardized, teachers' opportunities to make decisions based on their professional judgment are systematically reduced."

High-stakes accountability systems and other education 'reforms' (including teacher testing), while politically visible and easier to implement than the multi-faceted approach required for genuine accountability, seriously threaten teacher professionalism and autonomy. This is because they reduce opportunities for teachers to use their professional judgment and experience to make pedagogical decisions based on children's individual needs and abilities. Darling-Hammond's critique of bureaucratic accountability and the constraints it can place on professionalism, in *The Right to Learn* (1997), is illustrative in this regard:

It has taken us nearly a century to discover that, as a form of organization, bureaucracy lacks the tools to manage complex work, handle the unpredictable, or meet distinctive client needs. By its very nature, bureaucratic management is incapable of providing appropriate education for students who do not fit the mold upon which prescriptions for practice are based. As inputs, processes, and measures of outcomes are increasingly standardized, the cracks through which students can fall grow larger rather than smaller because the likelihood that each accumulated prescription is suitable for a given child grows smaller with each successive limitation upon teachers' ability to adapt instruction to students' needs. *Bureaucratic solutions to problems of*

practice will always fail because effective teaching is not routine, students are not passive, and questions of practice are not simple, predictable or standardized. Consequently, instructional decisions cannot be formulated on high, then packaged and handed down to teachers. [emphasis added] (pp. 66-67)

On the subject of teacher deprofessionalization, Hatch (2002) also observes that:

Across the education landscape, the movement toward standards is a movement away from teacher responsibility and agency. As curricula, teaching strategies, outcomes, and evaluation techniques are standardized, teachers' opportunities to make decisions based on their professional judgment are systematically reduced. The implementation of standards-based programs signals students, parents, and society at large that teachers are not to trusted or respected and that technical/managerial control is what is needed to fix problems that teachers helped create. (p. 459)

"Is the standards movement creating divided education systems, where teachers in affluent public and private schools are able to use their creativity and autonomy, while teachers in poorer and minority communities - and their students - are held to prescribed and homogenous forms of instruction?"

Concerns are also being raised about the potential for standards-based reform to widen the educational divide through the deprofessionalization of teachers. Among the questions raised at a symposium at the 2003 AERA Annual Meeting³⁰ was whether "the standards movement [is] creating divided education systems, where teachers in affluent public and private schools are able to use their creativity and autonomy, while teachers in poorer and minority communities – and their students – are held to prescribed and homogenous forms of instruction". This is being borne out in some places. In what he terms "professional development apartheid", Hargreaves (2003) discusses differential approaches to school improvement and teacher professional growth in which poor districts with failing schools, in this case in the UK, are more likely to be subject to tightly "prescribed programs, endlessly intrusive monitoring and inspection, and sectarian performance training in mandated methods of teaching [performance-training sects]." (p. 190)

It may be useful at this point to elaborate on the earlier discussion of audit testing in schools. Elliott (2002) describes the pervasive impact of what he calls intensive 'value for money' (VfM) performance auditing on professional practices in general, with a specific focus on teaching and teachers. As he explains, VfM audit is wholly inappropriate in an educational setting because it completely negates the nature of teaching and learning as holistic, contextual processes:

The prevailing technologies of audit rest upon the assumption of fixed and immutable performance indicators that do not vary across time and context. For example, they leave little room for a view of teaching effectiveness as a time-dependent and context-bound phenomenon. The impact of teaching on students, the chain of effects it creates in particular contexts, takes time to unfold, and our understanding of the connections between processes and outcomes therefore changes over time and is never perfect. Teaching, argues Strathern (2000), is audited as if 'immediate assimilability' is its goal. Yet we know that learning takes place over time and 'may manifest itself weeks, years, generations, after teaching, and may manifest itself in forms that do not look like the original at all' for 'the student's experiences will introduce his or her own "indirection" ' Accountability for the development of true quality in teaching is conditional upon teachers being trusted to engage in the process free from the unremitting gaze of audit. This is because it is a process, which is essentially invisible to audit. The more the technology of audit – the creation of information systems and audit trails for the purposes of inspection - encroach on and shape teaching and learning, the less space teachers have for quality development and becoming effective teachers. (pp. 502-503)

The "unremitting gaze of audit" ultimately has the opposite effect of what is intended – it "makes evidence about the real impact of teaching on learners invisible and in doing so masks quality." (Elliott, p. 502) This seems an apt description of the Fraser Institute's annual school rankings and other similar exercises.

U.S. schools appear to be firmly in the tightening vice grip of test-based accountability and the audit mentality.

U.S. schools appear to be firmly in the tightening vice grip of test-based accountability and the audit mentality. To date, 27 states rate schools based on test performance, 11 of which do so solely on the basis of test scores; 18 states require students to pass state tests to graduate from high school with six more states planning to implement this requirement; three states require children to pass state tests to be promoted in certain grades with four more states following suit by 2003 (Education Week, 2001). Texas appears to be at the forefront of this movement where students are tested in reading, language arts and math in grades 3 through 11, in science at grades 5, 10 and 11, and in social sciences at grades 8, 10 and 11 (Schmidt, 2002). Little wonder that the U.S. has the dubious distinction of being the world's most tested nation, a reputation solidified with the passage in January 2002 of the NCLB Act. Inspired by the so-called "Texas miracle", this federal education law requires as indicated earlier the tracking of progress for all students in every state from grades three to eight based on an annual test.

So, how do teachers feel about this frenzy for testing?

Some teachers appear to be voting with their feet. In Alberta, 31% of teachers are reported to have opted out of teaching grades three, six and nine in order to avoid the provincial achievement tests (Couture, 2002). Some American teachers are leaving the public school system entirely, opting instead to teach in private schools, because state testing mandates "make them feel compromised as professionals" (Amrein & Berliner, 2002).

Members of the National Union of Teachers in England feel that national testing (in the form of the SATs) is "distorting the curriculum and educational experience available to children" and having an adverse impact on teacher workload (Bangs, 2003). Teachers also report that statutory testing in England takes up inordinate amounts of classroom and preparation time (Parker, 2003). Nearly half of teacher respondents to a survey about mathematics instruction in New Brunswick (conducted by the New Brunswick Teachers' Association in 2003) reported that external assessments were negatively shaping their instructional focus (Cook, 2003).

The overwhelming majority of Ontario teachers are opposed to standardized testing because it demoralizes students, does nothing to improve learning, and is a poor measure of school success or teacher performance.

A survey of experienced teachers in Ohio found strong opposition to high-stakes testing with a majority of respondents stating that minority students including children of colour are "experiencing less academic success because of standardized tests." (Rapp, 2002, p. 217)

Ontario teachers also have concerns about the proliferation of standardized testing. The province's testing program is designed and administered by the Education Quality and Accountability Office at an annual cost of over \$50 million. A poll of 1,027 teachers commissioned by the Ontario College of Teachers (2003) found that the overwhelming majority of Ontario teachers are opposed to standardized testing because it demoralizes students, does nothing to improve learning, and is a poor measure of school success or teacher performance.

Similarly, responses to a national survey of over 1,000 U.S. public school teachers reveal serious misgivings about large-scale state testing programs (Education Week, 2001). The report found that "state tests may be looming too large in classrooms and encouraging undesirable practices." According to the survey:

- Nearly seven in ten teachers said instruction stresses state tests "far" or "somewhat" too much.
- 66% said state tests were forcing them to concentrate too much on what is tested to the detriment of other important topics.
- Approximately 29% reported using either state practice tests or commercial testpreparation materials a "great deal" to ready students for state exams.

 Nearly half reported spending "a great deal" of time preparing their students in testtaking skills.

It comes as no surprise then that high-stakes testing is undermining moves toward alternative classroom assessment and de-skilling teachers in the process. Long-term research on secondary education in both Canada and New York state conducted by Hargreaves (2002) and his colleagues has some disturbing implications for classroom assessment, highlighting the policy contradictions noted earlier and the practical dilemmas facing teachers in their daily work with students. They report that high-stakes testing

...is leading teachers either to abandon teaching practices that inclusively address the varying needs of all their students in favour of rote test preparation, or to exhaust themselves preparing students for the tests at the same time as assisting students with assessments that enable them to demonstrate more sophisticated learning through performances and exhibitions (pp. 84-85).

Equally alarming is the finding that experienced teachers are leaving the profession due to pressures exerted by an accountability agenda that stresses high-stakes testing, test preparation, and narrow curriculum standards. This was the top reason cited in a recent survey of California teachers who had already left teaching (Tye & O'Brien, 2002). It was also ranked highly by those teachers still in the classroom but who might consider leaving the profession. One teacher remarked that: "I thought I'd be able to use the many lessons I'd developed, but because of increased 'accountability,' I've had to use state- and district-mandated materials.'" Another noted that, "'All my creative talents seemed to go by the wayside due to the SAT-9 [Stanford Achievement Test, 9th edition] drill and kill they wanted me to do.' "(Tye & O'Brien, p. 27)

The tendency to address complex educational issues with standardized, technical policy responses such as teacher testing contributes to the deprofessionalization of teachers.

When issues related to teacher work intensification, ranked next on the list, are considered alongside the mounting accountability pressures, this makes for a potentially harmful combination with regard to professionalism. A recent workplace survey found that 60% of Canadian teachers find their jobs increasingly more stressful – workload was cited as one of the primary reasons for leaving the profession (CTF, 2001). Numerous other surveys and studies on teacher workload and worklife issues, both in Canada and internationally, have been conducted in the past few years.³¹

Teacher testing is often promoted in the name of improved accountability, as are other reforms such as merit pay (including linking teacher pay to student performance on tests). CTF has reported that teacher testing³² could have the effect of eroding professionalization:

Teacher testing, with its current focus on what [Michael] Apple describes as "a limited range of generic 'technical skills' or on an atomized list of relatively easy-to-measure 'competencies' – which may not be key factors in why a teacher is successful", could result in faculties of education 'teaching to the test', what one observer has described as the "dumbing-down of teacher education". (There is already evidence of this occurring in Massachusetts where teacher colleges are shifting their curricular emphasis to focus on the Massachusetts Educator Certification Test.) In the same way that standardized testing of students has been shown to narrow school curriculum, teacher standardized testing could end up driving and narrowing the curriculum content of teacher education programs. Testing could de facto drive the definition of good teaching. (Froese-Germain & Moll, 2001, p. 7)³³

Educators are acutely aware that teaching is far too complex to be evaluated in this way.

In general, the tendency of decision-makers to address complex educational issues with standardized, technical policy responses such as teacher testing contributes to the deprofessionalization of teachers.

Teachers support greater accountability unless...

In what he describes as "accountability shovedown", educator J. Amos Hatch (2002) raises concerns about the imposition of rigid standards-based reform on very young children.³⁴ He lays out several conditions that would need to be satisfied to gain his support for academic standards in early childhood education. These conditions may be useful for coming to terms with educational accountability as it affects all children and youth, and for thinking both about what accountability *is* and *is not*. Specifically, Hatch would support standards for early childhood education...

- except when the implementation of those standards puts children as young as 3 and 4 at risk of feeling pressured in the classroom environment.
- unless they are used in ways that put pressure on teachers to abandon their mission
 of teaching young children in favour of teaching a core set of competencies.
- except in cases where moving to a standards-based curriculum reduces a rich set of experiences to a narrow sequence of lessons.
- unless children, teachers, and programs are systematically identified as deficient in an effort to make them accountable.
- as long as teachers are not stripped of their roles as professional decision-makers.
- unless it teaches young children to value the attainment of certain objectives over their ability to learn.

- except when the use of standards encourages us to ignore the individual strengths and needs of young children.
- except in those instances where family and cultural differences are out of place because programs emphasize sameness. (In a sad commentary on standards-based reform, Hatch remarks that, "In a model driven by an obsession with sameness, diversity becomes a problem, and children from diverse groups are likely to become casualties simply because of their differences", p. 461.)

"In a model driven by an obsession with sameness, diversity becomes a problem, and children from diverse groups are likely to become casualties simply because of their differences".

- unless it is difficult to make a compelling case that young children actually benefit from this movement.
- unless it means that the forces driving corporate America are being applied in early childhood classrooms.

(Excerpted from Hatch, 2002.)

Advancing educational accountability

The foregoing discussion attempts to demonstrate that moving toward true educational accountability is no minor undertaking. There are many threads in this complex 'tapestry' that need to be identified and carefully woven together. Individual elements will be less effective if implemented in isolation, hence the need for policy coherence and for initiatives to take place on several fronts.

Moving toward true educational accountability is no minor undertaking. There are many threads in this complex 'tapestry' that need to be identified and carefully woven together.

A comprehensive framework for the achievement of genuine accountability in education would be informed by the following concepts:

- Public accountability is a fundamental principle underlying public education.
- As students are at the centre of public education, it should be recognized that the
 primary purpose of an accountability system must be to support and improve
 teaching and learning for all students.
- Teachers welcome accountability when it is fair and equitable for all students (ETFO, *Adjusting the Optics*, 2001).
- The responsibility for student learning and overall educational quality must be shared among many partners. Teachers are one of several albeit more directly involved players. Accountability should also mean shared responsibility for improving education at all levels – from pre-school through to post-secondary, adult education and beyond.
- Teachers and the other education partners should be held accountable for that which is within their authority and control.
- An emphasis on standardized testing and school rankings is a misguided approach to achieving accountability. Standardized testing is no substitute for true accountability.
- High-stakes accountability systems and other standardized education 'reforms'
 including teacher testing, while politically visible, threaten teacher professionalism
 and autonomy. They reduce opportunities for teachers to use their professional
 judgment and experience to make sound pedagogical decisions based on children's
 individual needs and abilities.
- Accountability must be situated within the multiple goals of public education. In
 particular, it must be driven by a strong vision of the role of public education in
 forging citizens and democratic structures and societies, a vision for public
 education equally informed by the principles of equity, accessibility, universality and
 quality.

- Accountability for providing good schools must be informed by sound educational research.
- The need for multiple indicators to evaluate student and school success cannot be emphasized enough a comprehensive accountability framework would recognize the need to be accountable for outcomes (including but not limited to the assessment of student learning, broadly defined), for processes, and for contextual factors.
- Education is an important public service yielding both individual and collective benefits. As such, society has an obligation to fulfill its collective responsibility for providing the necessary 'inputs' including qualified committed people, material resources, infrastructure, dollars for the delivery of quality public education. This incorporates the idea of ensuring all students are provided with adequate *opportunities to learn*, recognizing that social and economic factors have a direct bearing on one's capacity to take advantage of educational opportunities.
- Quality classroom-based assessment using an array of methods over time, incorporating authentic forms of student assessment, and integrated with curriculum and instruction – must be a central feature of an alternative accountability framework. Classroom assessments are:
 - designed and administered by teachers, who are in the best position to assess, evaluate and report on student achievement;
 - · evaluated using the professional judgment of teachers; and
 - used for the purpose of supporting and improving student learning.
- The primary purpose of an accountability system must be to support and improve teaching and learning for all students.
 - The teaching profession requires support in acquiring the necessary skills and knowledge to conduct quality classroom assessment. Professional development and training (pre-service and in-service) on classroom assessment and evaluation must be a priority. Further, teachers need adequate time during the school day to assess, evaluate, and report on student learning, particularly for students with special needs.
 - Accountable education governance is another critical piece of the accountability puzzle. Public schools and school systems must be governed by people who are elected by and responsible to the public.
 - An accountability framework should recognize and strengthen the *professional accountability* of teachers. The concept of professional accountability incorporates a
 number of features including:
 - the positive connection between teacher quality and student achievement –
 hence, the need to provide teachers with ongoing access to the knowledge and
 support necessary to make sound educational decisions in their classrooms every
 day in order to improve student learning. Professional development, which
 encompasses a broad range of initiatives including professional learning
 communities, is key to enhancing teacher quality.

- the improvement of teachers' working conditions, which affect students' learning conditions, job satisfaction and motivation, professional autonomy, and recruitment and retention.
- professional autonomy, at the heart of which is teachers' right to make responsible decisions and choices that enable them to meet diverse and changing student needs.
- the critical recognition that accountability for teacher success is a responsibility that must be shared among key participants in the education system (STF, 2002).

Rodrigue (2002) challenges teacher unions to move beyond the discourse of critique into a discourse of possibility, to "accept the responsibility of facilitating an alternative vision of education and learning" (p. 36). Hargreaves (2003) also urges unions to play a leading role, as agents of change, in creating a renewed, visionary "social movement for a dynamic and inclusive system of public education in the knowledge society" (p. 206). The celebrated Canadian scientist and philosopher Ursula Franklin asks simply, "What do you do *after* you've taken a dim view?"

The Canadian Teachers' Federation welcomes input into this discussion about the nature of authentic accountability in public education and the role of teachers' organizations in working to define and advance it.

In the spirit of this challenge and in keeping with the idea of accountability as a shared responsibility, developing and promoting an alternative coordinated accountability framework must of itself be a shared task. There is a unique and critical teacher perspective on this issue that needs to be heard. The Canadian Teachers' Federation welcomes input into this discussion about the nature of authentic accountability in public education and the role of teachers' organizations in working to define and advance it.

In a plea to teachers to "take back accountability" as it were, Gallagher (2004) says that,

It is time for those who really do and should control the system – teachers – to be telling the rest of us what's educationally best for their students. And it is time for teachers to turn the accountability tables on the reformers, keeping *them* accountable by asking the kinds of questions that really matter. (p. 359)

This would surely go a long way toward putting a human face on accountability – and advancing genuine educational accountability that puts teaching and learning first.

Bibliography and Further Reading

- Adam, M. (2003, June). "Testing Debate Heats Up." Ottawa Citizen, p. D16.
- Agnaïeff, M. (2002). "The New Global Order: Building a Response." Keynote address at the CTF Joint Staff Officers' Meeting, Ottawa, Dec. 5, 2002. [Included in the "Report of the CTF Joint Staff Meeting of Member Organizations, December 2002"].
- "AIMS Ranking of Secondary Schools Flawed APEF Report." *The Teacher* (NSTU), 42(2), Oct. 2003, pp. 1, 3.
- Alberta Teachers' Association (2003). Trying to Teach, Trying to Learn: Listening to Students. Edmonton, AB. URL: http://www.teachers.ab.ca/publications/monographs/Trying_To_Learn/index.html
- Alberta Teachers' Association (2002). *Improving Public Education: Supporting Teaching and Learning*. Edmonton, AB. URL: http://www.teachers.ab.ca/what/Fighting_for_Public_Ed/Submissions.html
- Alberta Teachers' Association (2001). *Professional Development Position Paper*. Edmonton, AB. URL: http://www.teachers.ab.ca/policy/papers.cfm?p_ID=199
- Alliance for Childhood (2001, April 25). "High-Stakes Testing: A Statement of Concern and Call to Action." Washington, DC. URL: http://www.allianceforchildhood.net/news/histakes_test_position_statement.htm
- Alliance for Childhood (2001, April 25). "Press Release. Rethink High-Stakes Testing." Washington, DC.
- Alphonso, C. (2003, Dec. 20). "Ontario Scraps Contentious Plan to Recertify Its Teachers." *Globe and Mail*.
- Alphonso, C. (2003, Dec. 12). "Scrap Literacy Test or Face Lawsuit, Ontario Parents Say." *Globe and Mail*, p. A8.
- Amato, L. Presentation on "Teacher Evaluation in Ontario: The Model and Its Implications for the Profession" at the PD Services Seminar, Dec. 7, 2002, during the Canadian Teachers' Federation Joint Staff Officers' Meeting held at the Marriott Hotel, Ottawa, Dec. 5-7, 2002.
- American Federation of Teachers (2003). Where We Stand: Standards-Based Assessment and Accountability. Washington, DC: AFT Educational Issues Department.
- Amrein, A. L., & Berliner, D. C. (2002, Dec.). An Analysis of Some Unintended and Negative Consequences of High-Stakes Testing. Tempe, AZ: Education Policy Research Unit (EPRU), Education Policy Studies Laboratory, Arizona State University.
- Assessment Reform Group (2002). Assessment for Learning: 10 Principles. London, UK. URL: http://www.assessment-reform-group.org.uk/publications.html

- Assessment Reform Group (1999). Assessment for Learning: Beyond the Black Box. London, UK. URL: http://www.assessment-reform-group.org.uk/publications.html
- Bangs, J. (2003, Mar.). "SATs: What Next?" *The Teacher* (National Union of Teachers), pp. 14-15.
- Bartlett, L. (2001). "The Tyranny of the Test: The Social Implications of North Carolina's Accountability Program." URL: http://www.unc.edu/depts/anthro/talks/bartlett.pdf
- Bascia, N. (1999, April). "The Other Side of the Equation: Professional Development and the Organizational Capacity of Teacher Unions." Paper prepared for the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association (AERA), Montreal, Quebec, April 19-23, 1999.
- Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998, Oct.). "Inside the Black Box: Raising Standards Through Classroom Assessment." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 80(2), pp. 139-144.
- Bower, B., & Rolheiser, C. (2000). "Portfolio Assessment Organizing for Success!" *Orbit*, 30(4), pp. 47-49.
- Bracey, G. W. (2003, Oct.). "The 13th Bracey Report on the Condition of Public Education." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 85(2), pp. 148-164.
- Bracey, G. W. (2000). Bail Me Out! Handling Difficult Data and Tough Questions About Public Schools. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Brenna, S. (2003, Nov. 9). "The Littlest Test Takers." New York Times.
- B.C. Teachers' Federation (2002, July). "Accountability Policy Update." URL: http://www.bctf.ca/education/accountability/PolicyUpdateJuly2002.html
- B.C. Teachers' Federation (1997, June). *Opportunities to Learn: Accountability in Education in British Columbia*. A Brief to the Minister of Education, Skills and Training from the BCTF. URL: http://www.bctf.ca/publications/briefs/ocg/
- Campaign 2000 (2003, Nov.). Diversity or Disparity? Early Childhood Education and Care in Canada (ECEC). Second Report, Community Indicators Project. Toronto. URL: http://www.campaign2000.ca/ci/rep.html
- Canadian School Boards Association (2002, Feb.). *Discussion Paper on Accountability*. Ottawa. URL: http://www.cdnsba.org/pdf/CSBA_Accountability.pdf
- Canadian Teachers' Federation (2003, Aug.). "Canadians Talk About Schools and Accountability. Summary of Major Findings of a Vector Public Opinion Poll." *Economic and Member Services Bulletin*. Ottawa.
- Canadian Teachers' Federation (2002, Sept.). "The 2002 CTF National Issues in Education Poll. Summary of Major Findings." *Economic Services Bulletin*. Ottawa.

- Canadian Teachers' Federation (2001, June). "CTF Workplace Survey." Ottawa. URL: http://www.ctf-fce.ca
- Canadian Teachers' Federation (2000). "Standardized Testing + High-Stakes Decisions = Educational Inequity." [brochure]
- Canadian Teachers' Federation (1999, Jan.). "Toward a CTF Vision Statement. Consultation Paper." Ottawa.
- Cartwright, F., et al. (2003, May). Linking Provincial Student Assessments With National and International Assessments. Education, Skills and Learning Research Papers. Ottawa: Statistics Canada / B.C. Ministry of Education. URL: http://www.statcan.ca/english/IPS/Data/81-595-MIE2003005.htm
- Casas, M. (2003, Oct. 12). "The Use of Standardized Tests in Assessing Authentic Learning A Contradiction Indeed." *Teachers College Record.* URL: http://www.tcrecord.org/
- Chapman, A. (2003, April). "Professional Autonomy in the Life of a Teacher." *Teacher Newsmagazine*, 15(5), pp. 4-5.
- Charter for Public Education (2003). URL: http://charter.publiced.ca/
- Clark, R. (1999, June 4). "Teachers are Active Learners. Canadian Teachers' Learning Survey." *Update*, 26(17).
- Cohen, T. (2003, Feb. 14). "Tests Fail to Make Grade: Principal." Ottawa Sun, p. 18.
- Cook, M. (New Brunswick Teachers' Association). Presentation at the CTF Member Organization Staff Meeting, Marriott Hotel, Ottawa, Nov. 20-22, 2003.
- Council of Ministers of Education, Canada. "Improved Learning Focus of New Pan-Canadian Assessment Program." Communiqué, London, Ontario, April 2, 2003 (press release). URL: http://www.cmec.ca/releases/2003-04-02.en.asp
- Couture, J.-C. Presentation on "The Intensification of Teachers' Work in Alberta" at the PD Services Seminar, Dec. 7, 2002, during the Canadian Teachers' Federation Joint Staff Officers' Meeting held at the Marriott Hotel, Ottawa, Dec. 5-7, 2002.
- Crocker, R. (2003). Analysis of "Grading Our Future: Atlantic Canada's High Schools' Accountability and Performance in Context. The AIMS Report Card on Atlantic Canadian High Schools". Final Report. Submitted to the Atlantic Provinces Education Foundation, July 2003.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1999). "Developing a Professional Model of Accountability for Our Schools." Speech presented at the B.C. Teachers' Federation AGM, March 1999. URL: http://www.bctf.ca/publications/speeches/darling-hammond.html
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1998, Feb.). "Teacher Learning That Supports Student Learning." *Educational Leadership*, 55(5), pp. 6-11.

- Darling-Hammond, L. (1997). *The Right to Learn: A Blueprint for Creating Schools That Work.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1994, Spring). "Performance-Based Assessment and Educational Equity." *Harvard Educational Review*, 64(1), pp. 5-30.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1988, Winter). "Accountability and Teacher Professionalism." *American Educator*, 12(4), pp. 8-13, 38-43.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Berry, B. (1998, May 27). "Investing in Teaching." *Education Week on the Web*, Editorial Projects in Education. URL: http://www.edweek.org/ew/vol-17/37darlin.h17
- Darling-Hammond, L., & McLaughlin, M. W. (1995, April). "Policies That Support Professional Development in an Era of Reform." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(8), pp. 597-604.
- Doherty-Delorme, D., & Shaker, E. (eds.). (2003). *Missing Pieces: An Alternative Guide to Canadian Post-Secondary Education*. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Earl, L. (2001). "What Does Accountability Mean for Teachers?" *Orbit*, 32(1), pp. 27-31.
- Earl, L. M. (1995). Accountability in Education: Where Do Teachers Fit? Paper prepared for the Canadian Teachers' Federation National Conference "Public Education: Meeting the Challenges", Montreal, Quebec, May 1995.
- Education Week (2001, Jan.). *Quality Counts 2001. A Better Balance: Standards, Tests, and the Tools to Succeed.* Education Week on the Web, Editorial Projects in Education, 20(7).
- Eisner, E. W. (2003, May). "Questionable Assumptions About Schooling." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(9), pp. 648-657.
- Eisner, E. (1998). "The Role of Teachers in Assessment and Education Reform." Speech presented at the B.C. Teachers' Federation AGM, March 1998. URL: http://www.bctf.ca/publications/speeches/eisner.html
- Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (ETFO). (2002, Jan.). A Teacher's Professional Portfolio: A Working Guide. Toronto.
- Elementary Teachers' Federation of Ontario (2001, Oct.). *ETFO's Alternative Accountability Model*. Toronto.
- ETFO. (2001, Aug.). From the Ground Up. Elementary Teachers' Call to Action for Public Education. Toronto.
- ETFO. (2001). Adjusting the Optics: Assessment, Evaluation and Reporting. Toronto.

- ETFO. (1999, Dec.). Ensuring High Professional Standards in Ontario Education. A Response to the Teacher Testing Proposal. Toronto.
- Elliott, J. (2002). "The Impact of Intensive 'Value for Money' Performance Auditing in Educational Systems." *Educational Action Research*, 10(3), pp. 499-505. URL: http://www.triangle.co.uk/ear/content/pdfs/10/issue10_3.asp#9
- Fisher, M. (2003, Mar. 25). "Taking a Stand On Testing." Washington Post, p. B01.
- Froese-Germain, B. (2002, Fall). "Made In the Classroom Assessment *By* Teachers, *For* Learning." *PD News* (Canadian Teachers' Federation), 2(3), pp. 3-5.
- Froese-Germain, B. (2002, Summer). "Weaving the Multiple Threads of True Accountability in Education." *PD News* (Canadian Teachers' Federation), 2(2), pp. 3-5.
- Froese-Germain, B. (2001). "Standardized Testing + High-Stakes Decisions = Educational Inequity." *Interchange*, 32(2), pp. 111-130.
- Froese-Germain, B. (1999). *Standardized Testing: Undermining Equity in Education*. Ottawa: Canadian Teachers' Federation.
- Froese-Germain, B., & Moll, M. (2001, Fall). "Teacher Testing FAQ." PD & Research News (Canadian Teachers' Federation), 1(4), pp. 1, 6-8.
- Gallagher, C. W. (2004, Jan.). "Turning the Accountability Tables: Ten Progressive Lessons from One 'Backward' State." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 85(5), pp. 352-360. URL: http://www.pdkintl.org/kappan/k0401gal.htm
- Hargreaves, A. (2003). *Teaching In the Knowledge Society: Education In the Age of Insecurity*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Hargreaves, A., Earl, L., & Schmidt, M. (2002, Spring). "Perspectives on Alternative Assessment Reform." *American Educational Research Journal*, 39(1), pp. 69-95.
- Harris, W. (2001, Sept.). "More Than the Teachers Are New." *Professionally Speaking*, pp. 22-27.
- Hatch, J. A. (2002, Feb.). "Accountability Shovedown: Resisting the Standards Movement in Early Childhood Education." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 83(6), pp. 457-462.
- Hatcher, R. (2003). "Business Agendas and School Education in England." (Draft paper).
- Haycock, K. (2003, June). *The Crisis in Canada's School Libraries: The Case for Reform and Re-Investment*. Toronto, ON: Association of Canadian Publishers. URL: http://www.peopleforeducation.com/librarycoalition/Report03.pdf
- Henriques, D. B. (2003, Sept. 2). "Rising Demands for Testing Push Limits of Its Accuracy." *New York Times*.

- Holt, M. (2002, Dec.). "It's Time to Start the Slow School Movement." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(4), pp. 265-271.
- Karp, S. (2002, Summer). "Let Them Eat Tests." *Rethinking Schools*, 16(4). URL: http://www.rethinkingschools.org/archive/16_04/Eat164.shtml
- Kohn, A. (2002, Oct.). "The 500-Pound Gorilla." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(2), pp. 112-119.
- Kohn, A. (2001, Jan.). "Fighting the Tests: A Practical Guide to Rescuing Our Schools." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 82(5), pp. 348-357.
- Kohn, A. (2000). The Case Against Standardized Testing: Raising the Scores, Ruining the Schools. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Kohn, A. (1999). "The Case Against 'Tougher Standards'." URL: http://www.alfiekohn.org/standards/rationale.htm
- Kristjanson, C., & Dyer, D. (2003, Winter). "Fair Assessment of Students: Multiple Choices." *Professional Development Perspectives*, 3(1), pp. 1, 4-6.
- Kronholz, J. (2003, Dec. 24). "Education Firms See Money in Bush's School-Boost Law." Wall Street Journal.
- Kuehn, L. (2004). "Leaning Between Conspiracy and Hegemony: OECD, UNESCO and the Tower of PISA." In M. Moll (ed.), *Passing the Test: The False Promises of Standardized Testing* (pp. 57-66). Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Kuehn, L. (2002, April). "Teachers' Professionalism Under Attack." *Teacher Newsmagazine*, 14(6), pp. 1, 4.
- Leithwood, K. Presentation on "Educational Accountability" at the Professional Development Services Seminar, Dec. 6, 2002, during the Canadian Teachers' Federation Joint Staff Officers' Meeting held at the Marriott Hotel, Ottawa, Dec. 5-7, 2002.
- Leithwood, K. (2001). "Five Reasons Most Accountability Policies Don't Work (and What You Can Do About It)." *Orbit*, 32(1), pp. 1-5. URL: http://www.oise.utoronto.ca/orbit/accountability_sample.html
- Leithwood, K., Fullan, M., & Watson, N. (2003, Winter). "What Should Be the Boundaries of the Schools We Need?" *Education Canada*, 43(1), pp. 12-15.
- Leithwood, K., Jantzi, D., & Mascall, B. (2002, Jan.). "A Framework for Research on Large-scale Reform." *Journal of Educational Change*, 3(1), pp. 7-33.
- Linn, R. L. (2003, Oct.). "2003 AERA Presidential Address. Accountability: Responsibility and Reasonable Expectations." *Educational Researcher*, 32(7), pp. 3-13. URL: http://www.aera.net/pubs/er/toc/er3207.htm

- Mahony, P., & Hextall, I. (2000). *Reconstructing Teaching: Standards, Performance and Accountability*. London: Routledge/Falmer.
- Mawhinney, H. B. (1998, Jan.-March). "Patterns of Social Control in Assessment Practices in Canadian Frameworks for Accountability in Education." *Educational Policy*, 12(1&2), pp. 98-109.
- Meier, D. (2002, Nov.). "Standardization Versus Standards." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(3), pp. 190-198.
- Miles, C. A. (2000, Feb. 11). Review of Published Research Addressing Teacher Testing and Evaluation. Submitted to the Ontario Association of Deans of Education.
- Nagy, P. (2004). "An Analysis of the Fraser Institute Rankings of Ontario High Schools." In M. Moll (ed.), *Passing the Test: The False Promises of Standardized Testing* (pp. 188-200). Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- National Union of Teachers (1999). "Oh, Let Us Be 'Suns' Again." London: NUT. URL: http://www.teachers.org.uk/resources/pdf/ohletbe.pdf
- Naylor, C. (2001, Sept.). *Teacher Workload and Stress: An International Perspective on Human Costs and Systemic Failure*. BCTF Research Report. Vancouver, B.C. URL: http://www.bctf.ca/Dept/ResearchDept/list/archive/2001-02/2001-10-11.html
- Naylor, C., Schaefer, A. C., & Malcolmson, J. (2003). Worklife of British Columbia Teachers: A Compilation of BCTF Research Reports on Working and Learning Conditions in 2001. Vancouver, B.C.
- Neill, M., et al. (1997, Sept.). *Testing Our Children: A Report Card on State Assessment Systems*. Cambridge, MA: National Center for Fair & Open Testing (FairTest).
- Ohanian, S. (2002, Dec.). "Is Satire Possible?" Phi Delta Kappan, 84(4), pp. 312-315.
- Ollman, B. (2003, Winter). "Why So Many Exams? A Marxist Perspective." *Our Schools/Our Selves*, 12(2) (#70), pp. 99-112.
- Olson, L. (2002, May 22). "Up Close and Personal." *Education Week on the Web*, Editorial Projects in Education, 21(37), pp. 28-33.
- Ontario College of Teachers (2003, Sept.). The State of the Teaching Profession in Ontario, 2003. A Report to the Ontario College of Teachers Based on a Survey of the Province's Teachers by COMPAS Inc. Toronto.
- O'Sullivan, B. (1999, Summer). "Global Change and Educational Reform in Ontario and Canada." *Canadian Journal of Education*, 24(3), pp. 311-325.
- Parker, L. (2003, Spring). "Stress Test." Australian Educator, 39, pp. 20-21.
- People for Education (2003, May). The 2003 Elementary School Tracking Report. Six Years of the Funding Formula: Failing Ontario's Students. Toronto. URL: http://www.peopleforeducation.com/

- People for Education (2003, March). *The 2003 Secondary School Tracking Report.* Diminishing Support in a Harsher Environment. Toronto.
- People for Education (2002, Oct. 24). "Ontario Schools Losing English as a Second Language Programs Despite Increase in Immigration." Media release.
- Popham, W. J. (2002, Feb.). "Right Task, Wrong Tool." *American School Board Journal*, 189(2), pp. 18-22.
- Power, M. (1999). *The Audit Society: Rituals of Verification* (2nd edition). Oxford University Press.
- A Professional Learning Framework: An Integrated Vision, The Catholic Community Position, November 1999. URL: http://www.oecta.on.ca
- Rapp, D. (2002, Nov.). "National Board Certified Teachers in Ohio Give State Education Policy, Classroom Climate, and High-Stakes Testing a Grade of F." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(3), pp. 215-218.
- Rhoades, K., & Madaus, G. (2003, May). *Errors in Standardized Tests: A Systemic Problem*. Chestnut Hill, MA: National Board on Educational Testing and Public Policy, Lynch School of Education, Boston College. URL: http://www.bc.edu/research/nbetpp/reports.html#monographs
- Rimer, S. (2003, Oct. 29). "Now, Standardized Achievement Tests in Head Start." *New York Times*.
- Robertson, H.-j. (2002, Dec.). "Selective Trends: Programs and Services in the Context of Educational Reform." Speaking notes for a panel discussion at the National Children's Alliance 1st National Roundtable on Children with Disabilities, December 9-10, 2002, Ottawa.
- Robertson, H.-j. (2002, Oct. 15). "Educating Johnny: Unreliable Literacy Tests Are a Waste of Resources." *Ottawa Citizen*, p. A19.
- Rodrigue, A. (2002). "The New Global Order...Building A Response. Respondent's Commentary to Michel Agnaïeff". Presented at the CTF Joint Staff Officers' Meeting, Dec. 5-7, 2002, Ottawa. [Included in the "Report of the CTF Joint Staff Meeting of Member Organizations, December 2002"].
- Rodrigue, A. (1999). "Different Visions of Canadian Teacher Organizations: Praxis, Politics and Changes. An Atlantic View." Paper presented (as part of a panel organized by CTF) at the Annual Meeting of the Congress of the Social Sciences and Humanities (Sherbrooke, Quebec, June 11, 1999).
- Rose, L. C. (2003, Sept.). "Guest Editorial. Public Education's Trojan Horse." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 85(1), p. 2.

- Rose, L. C., & Gallup, A. M. (2003, Sept.). "The 35th Annual Phi Delta Kappa/Gallup Poll of the Public's Attitudes Toward the Public Schools." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 85(1), pp. 41-56.
- Rutledge, E. (2004, Feb.). "It Takes a Train to Cry: An Exploration of Quality Education." *The Teacher* (NSTU), 42(6), p. 6.
- Saskatchewan Teachers' Federation (2002, Nov.). Enhancing Teacher Success. Report of the STF's Enhancing Teacher Success Development Committee. Saskatoon, SK. URL: http://www.stf.sk.ca/inside_stf/publications/publications.htm
- Schmidt, S. (2003, July 10). "New Poll Says Parents Prefer Teacher Evaluation Over Standardized Testing." *CanWest News Service*.
- Schmidt, S. (2002, Nov. 19). "Texas: Miracle or Mirage?" National Post, p. A12.
- Schwartz, W. (2003). "Class Size Reduction and Urban Students." *ERIC Digest*, No. 182, ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education, New York.
- Shepard, L. A. (2000, Feb.). *The Role of Classroom Assessment in Teaching and Learning*. CSE Technical Report 517. Los Angeles, CA: National Center for Research on Evaluation, Standards, and Student Testing (CRESST). URL: http://www.cse.ucla.edu/CRESST/pages/reports.htm
- Simner, M. L. (2000). "A Joint Position Statement by the Canadian Psychological Association and the Canadian Association of School Psychologists on the Canadian Press Coverage of the Province-wide Achievement Test Results." Ottawa: Canadian Psychological Association. URL: http://www.cpa.ca/documents/joint_position.html
- Sirotnik, K. A. (2002, May). "Promoting Responsible Accountability in Schools and Education." *Phi Delta Kappan*, 83(9), pp. 662-673.
- Skytt, J. (2003, Summer). "Professional Learning Communities: Empowering Teachers in School Improvement." *ATA Magazine*, 83(4), pp. 5-9.
- Smith, D. G. (2000, Spring). "The Specific Challenges of Globalization for Teaching and Vice Versa." *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, XLVI(1), pp. 7-26.
- Stein, J. G. (2001). *The Cult of Efficiency*. 2001 CBC Massey Lectures Series. Toronto: House of Anansi Press.
- Supovitz, J. A., & Brennan, R. T. (1997, Fall). "Mirror, Mirror on the Wall, Which Is the Fairest Test of All? An Examination of the Equitability of Portfolio Assessment Relative to Standardized Tests." *Harvard Educational Review*, 67(3), pp. 472-506.
- Tye, B. B., & O'Brien, L. (2002, Sept.). "Why Are Experienced Teachers Leaving the Profession?" *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(1), pp. 24-32.

- University of Toronto News (2003, Jan. 23). "OISE/UT Report Card Gives Failing Grade to Provincial Education Policies." Press release.
- Valpy, M. (2003, May 10). "Please Excuse the Mess." Globe and Mail, p. F8.
- Ward, H. (2003, April 25). "Infants in Test Distress." *Times Educational Supplement* (TES).
- Wellstone, P. (2002/2003, Winter). "Wellstone on Testing: 'A Harsh Agenda'." *Rethinking Schools*, 17(2), p. 6.
- Windschitl, M. (2002, Summer). "Framing Constructivism in Practice as the Negotiation of Dilemmas: An Analysis of the Conceptual, Pedagogical, Cultural, and Political Challenges Facing Teachers." *Review of Educational Research*, 72(2), pp. 131-175.
- Winerip, M. (2003, Mar. 19). "On Education; A Pervasive Dismay On a Bush School Law." *New York Times*, p. 7.

Endnotes

- ¹ Michel Agnaïeff is the General Secretary of the Policy Action Group on Learning and Education of the Commission on Globalization (created by the State of the World Forum), and a former teacher and Executive Director of the Centrale de l'enseignement du Québec (CEQ). He presented a keynote address on the future of teacher unionism at the CTF Joint Staff Officers' Meeting in December 2002.
- In his excellent analysis of the "changing mandates of teaching and education" under contemporary globalization, Smith (2000) notes that "the period from the early 1970s to the mid 1990s marks the time when the basic configuration of today's globalization processes fell into place". Among the major factors leading up to this was the "rewriting of taxation rules in favour of economic interests over social and cultural ones [which] has marked the most fundamental and profound change in Western societies since the mid-1980s and has been largely responsible for the gradual erosion of all those public and social institutions that flourished during the Long Boom under the Bretton Woods Agreement of 1945." (p. 12)

O'Sullivan (1999) argues that two global paradigms have dominated Canadian education debates over the past three decades – global economic competitiveness which "maintains that knowledge has become the competitive advantage of industrial nations in the global economy and that utilitarian principles should guide our educational reforms"; and global interdependence which "holds that we should acknowledge our interdependent global needs and responsibilities and that this should guide our educational reforms." (p. 311) The paradigm of global economic competitiveness is a major force driving educational reform.

- ³ As part of its controversial "Report Card" series, the Fraser Institute has been developing and publishing rankings of secondary schools in B.C. since 1998, and in Alberta since 1999. High school rankings for Quebec and Ontario were published in 2000 and 2001 respectively. More recently, the Fraser Institute has taken to rating and ranking elementary schools in Alberta (2002; 2004) and B.C. (June 2003), as well as ranking schools on the basis of Aboriginal students' exam marks. On the east coast, the right-wing Atlantic Institute for Market Studies (AIMS) published its first annual ranking of Atlantic Canadian high schools in early 2003.
- ⁴ See for example Philip Nagy's analysis of the Fraser Institute's ranking of Ontario high schools, or Robert Crocker's analysis of the AIMS Report Card on high schools in Atlantic Canada.
- ⁵ The "No Child Left Behind" Act requires that all schools annually test all students in grades 3 through 8 in reading and math (testing in science will be added in the 2006-07 school year). In addition, as Bracey (2003) explains, "Schools must demonstrate adequate yearly progress (AYP). For a school to show AYP, all ethnic groups, all major socioeconomic groups, English-language learners, and special education students must make AYP separately. Ninety-five percent of each group must be tested, and, if any one group fails to make AYP, the school as a whole fails Schools must continue to

- make AYP until, by 2014, 100% of a school's students must score 'proficient.' " (p. 149) Some have suggested the legislation might have been more aptly named "no child left untested".
- ⁶ See also Leithwood, 2001.
- Given the vast scope of the subject of educational accountability, it should be noted that the elements discussed here are intended to be neither exhaustive nor definitive. This report attempts to provide the broad brush strokes of an alternative framework.
- ⁸ For example, among the many attributes that cannot be assessed by a standardized test are critical thinking, creativity, motivation, civic-mindedness, self-awareness, self-discipline, enthusiasm, compassion and humour (Gerald Bracey as cited in Holt, 2002, p. 268).
- ⁹ Kohn (2001) cites sobering research that found "a statistical association between high scores on standardized tests and relatively shallow thinking as a rule, better standardized exam results are more likely to go hand-in-hand with a shallow approach to learning than with deep understanding." (pp. 349-350) Standardized testing works against fostering critical thinking in students and de-skills teachers.
- For example, emerging research on the development of the adolescent brain suggests that, far from being fully developed as is generally accepted, teenage brains may still be "under construction" so to speak, experiencing spurts of very rapid growth accompanied by periods of "pruning or thinning" of brain cells. What cells get "pruned" appears to be dependent on one's activities whether engaging in reading, music and sports, or watching TV and playing video games. This has pedagogical implications in terms of determining what stage of brain development students may be at and adjusting teaching accordingly (Valpy, 2003). Valpy (2003) says that, "needless to say, [this] is an approach that doesn't fit comfortably with rigidly standardized curricula and grading." (p. F8)
- ¹¹ Kristjanson and Dyer (2003) provide a good analysis of bias in multiple choice testing, particularly as it affects female students and English as a Second Language (ESL) learners.
- ¹² In a study of 16 states that have adopted high-stakes testing policies (in this case, tests required for high school graduation), Amrein and Berliner (2002) found increasing numbers of urban school teachers "teaching to the test", which they describe as "limiting instruction to only those things that are sure to be tested, requiring students to spend hours memorizing facts, and drilling students on test taking strategies".
- This is especially problematic when such a body is unelected or unaccountable to any electorate and has an influence on educational policy decisions e.g., the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and its Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). In April 2003, the CMEC announced that a new national testing program the Pan-Canadian Assessment Program will replace the School Achievement Indicators Program and will be introduced in 2007. According to a CMEC press release, the PCAP "dove-tails with the important

international assessments we are doing through the OECD." This harmonization is also evident in a new study published by Statistics Canada intended to "develop technical procedures that may enable ministries of education to link provincial tests with national and international tests so that standards can be compared and results reported on a common scale." The study looks specifically at linking reading tests administered through the B.C. Foundation Skills Assessment (FSA) with PISA (Cartwright et al., 2003).

- The BCTF is a partner in a SSHRC-funded multi-literacies research project coordinated in the University of British Columbia Faculty of Education. The project, which will involve teachers in action research and reflective practice, addresses literacy as a complex and multi-dimensional process, challenging the narrow approach to literacy reflected in standardized tests such as the FSA.
- The Assessment Reform Group's stated goal is to "ensure that public policy at all levels takes account of relevant research in assessment practice." URL: http://www.assessment-reform-group.org.uk/
- Bower and Rolheiser (2000) provide a good overview of portfolio assessment, which lays out key decision-making areas for teachers and students.
- Public concerns over the Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS) prompted the American Civil Liberties Foundation of Massachusetts to issue a public advisory on issues relating to the testing program, such as discrimination and the right to protest. The ACLFM stressed the importance of allowing "the debate over the questionable use of a questionable exam to be heard." [http://www.aclu-mass.org/youth/studentrights/mcasadvisory.html]
- ¹⁸ The *Charter for Public Education* is the result of a five-month public consultation process in B.C. in which an independent panel of community members visited more than 40 communities, heard over 620 formal presentations and held discussions with over 1,000 participants on the most important values that B.C. citizens share about public education.
- ¹⁹ In addition to allowing a teacher to direct more attention to individual student needs and differences, researchers have found that reducing class size "can result in greater in-depth coverage of subject matter by teachers, enhanced learning and stronger engagement by students, more personalized relationships between teachers and students, and safer schools with fewer discipline problems" (Schwartz, 2003). For more information on class size research, see the B.C. Teachers' Federation website: http://www.bctf.bc.ca/education/ClassSize/
- According to Roch Carrier, well-known author and the National Librarian of Canada, "the state of our school libraries can only be described as desperate in almost every province." (Haycock, 2003, p. 13) These few examples speak for themselves only 10% of Ontario elementary schools have a full-time teacher-librarian, compared with 42% of schools twenty-five years ago; in Alberta, the number of teacher-librarians (half-time or more) has dropped from 550 in 1978 to 252 in 1998 to 106 in 2000. As of 2002, Nova Scotia had nine teacher-librarians, down from 103 in 1990.

- ²¹ The Canadian Coalition for School Libraries website is located at: http://www.peopleforeducation.com/librarycoalition/
- ²² See "Educational Indicators" on the Manitoba Teachers' Society website: http://www.mbteach.org/indicators.htm; See also People for Education's Tracking Reports: http://www.peopleforeducation.com/index.html
- ²³ For an update on the status of child poverty, see the "2003 Report Card on Child Poverty in Canada" by Campaign 2000: http://www.campaign2000.ca/
- ²⁴ This includes regulated child care services, family resource programs, prekindergarten and transition to school activities (Campaign 2000).
- Working papers and other resources from the Research Network on New Approaches to Lifelong Learning are available at: http://www.oise.utoronto.ca/depts/sese/csew/nall/
- This will be the topic of his keynote presentation at the CTF National Accountability Conference being held in Ottawa in May 2004 (the conference theme is "Moving From a Cult of Testing to a Culture of Professional Accountability"). Among the other featured speakers are Alfie Kohn, Lorna Earl, Maurice Holt, Lise Charland, Anne Rodrigue and Ken Leithwood.
- ²⁷ The other regimes are described as: permissive individualism, corrosive individualism, collaborative cultures, contrived collegiality, and performance-training sects.
- ²⁸ Miles (2000) strongly emphasizes that the terms "teacher testing" and "teacher evaluation" are *not* synonymous.
- ²⁹ A substantial number of beginning teachers leave the profession in the first 3-5 years of teaching. This is further complicated by the fact that many new education graduates opt for other (often higher-paying private sector) jobs even before they get into the classroom.
- "Standardized Reforms; Unique Lives", An Interactive Symposium sponsored by the Special Interest Group on the Lives of Teachers, Wed. April 23, 2003 (2003 American Educational Research Association Annual Meeting, Chicago) Panel participants: Andy Hargreaves, Ann Lieberman, June Gordon.
- A considerable amount of research on teacher workload issues has been carried out by teachers' organizations. See for example: http://www.bctf.ca/info/research/ workload.html
- Ontario's teacher testing program has four major components: a Teacher Qualifying Test; a Professional Learning Program; a Teacher Performance Appraisal System; and an induction program. The cost to design and administer the Qualifying Test for faculty of education graduates is over \$2.7 million.

- The reduction of teaching into atomized skill sets appears to be a feature of Ontario's new Teacher Performance Appraisal System. Introduced in September 2002, the TPAS is based on 16 standards of practice developed by the Ontario College of Teachers. For the purpose of implementing the government's performance appraisal system, these standards of practice subsequently became 16 "competency statements" which then devolved into no less than 133 required "look fors" or performance indicators. Principals will be responsible for evaluating teachers using this approach, predicted to add substantially to their already high workload (Amato, 2002). A comprehensive audit of Ontario education policy concluded that the "current approach to teacher testing is a waste of scarce educational resources" (University of Toronto press release, 2003). The newly elected Liberal government in the province announced in December 2003 that it would introduce legislation to repeal the controversial teacher recertification component of the program (Professional Learning Program) (Alphonso, Dec. 20, 2003).
- For example, standardized tests of math, literacy and vocabulary skills are being given to more than half a million 4-year-old children in early childhood Head Start programs across the U.S. (Head Start is designed to help poor children prepare for entry into kindergarten.) This is the largest pre-school testing program to date in the U.S. (Rimer, 2003). As one observer put it, these are indeed the "littlest test takers" (Brenna, 2003).